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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE
Dear Shareholders,

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 at the end of December
2019, the global business environment and economy were
fundamentally re-shaped. The prolonged COVID-19 pandemic
had continued to pose significant challenges to the automotive
industry, and no industry player in the automotive industry was
immune to the effects of COVID-19. The Group's research and
development progress was seriously affected on an ongoing
basis as remote working had prevented us from keeping optimal
working efficiency.

The Company is gearing up to launch in-vehicle audio-visual and
short drama business in 2025. Given the rapid advancements in
China’s automotive sector and the booming short drama industry,
these ventures are poised to bolster the Company's operations
significantly. With a staggering 500 million passenger vehicles
already traversing the mainland of China and more than half of
all journeys being car-bound, the in-vehicle audio-visual domain is
primed for substantial expansion. Concurrently, short dramas have
emerged as a swiftly evolving sector in China, surpassing even
the box office revenues of the film industry. This burgeoning field
holds immense promise. The Company anticipates that its foray
into in-vehicle audio-visual and short drama business will usher in
fresh growth prospects.

The Management is demonstrating unwavering efforts and
commitment in seeking potential collaborations and investment
opportunities for the Group with a view to improving the
liquidity, operation and performance of the Group in the long
run. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to source, identify
and secure quality manufacturers and/or suppliers with high-level
engineering and/or manufacturing capacities internationally for
the Group's automotive innovations and products.
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Chairman’'s Statement

We have noticed that there has been a notable shift in the
landscape of clean energy. With the escalating global focus on
sustainability and environmental conservation, the clean energy
sector has experienced a significant upsurge in investments,
innovations, and adoption. Governments worldwide have
intensified their commitments to renewable energy sources,
aiming to mitigate climate change and reduce carbon footprints.

The automotive industry in 2025 has experienced a profound
shift towards sustainability. The electric vehicle market has
expanded significantly, fueled by environmental consciousness and
government incentives. Autonomous vehicle technology continues
to advance, enhancing safety and convenience. Connectivity and
smart features are increasingly integrated into vehicles, improving
the driving experience. Automakers are prioritizing sustainability
by introducing electric and hybrid models and committing to
reducing carbon emissions. Our Board has made the most of
the precious time to maintain constant and in-depth discussions
with private equity firms, investment banks, law firms and other
partners so as to explore new ways, as well as to devise and
implement new plans for raising capital for the Group. The
Group will double its efforts, work harder than ever, grasp every
opportunity to expand the development space, and make up for
lost time in 2023 and 2024 during 2025.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
directors and employees of the Group for their tremendous
support!

Shan Chuanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 May 2025
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Biographical Detalils of Directors and Senior Management

I'I

SENEREIEEERER

Below are the biographical details of the Directors and the Senior
Management of the Group during the Year and as at the date of
this annual report.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shan Chuanlong (EE{##E), aged 41, was appointed as
an executive Director in March 2025. He served as an executive
director of Sky Light Holdings Limited (“Sky Light”), a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3882) and the general manager and the legal representative of
Wuhan Show Life Convenience Store Company Limited* (i /&
FEEEFEBRAR) ("Wuhan Show Life”), a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of Sky Light, and was primarily responsible for
the management of its overall operation from December 2022
to September 2024. From September 2014 to December 2021,
Mr. Shan worked at Siam Air Transport Company Limited* (&
EEZEMZEAR/AT)("Siam Air") with his last position as a
director of the China Market, where he was mainly responsible for
the flight operations in Mainland China as well as the marketing
research, business negotiation and promotion. From July 2008
to August 2014, Mr. Shan worked at Hubei Dongxin Group
Company Limited* (H#IEEREEEBRAF) with last position
as a manager. Mr. Shan obtained a bachelor’s degree in Japanese
from the Wuhan University in July 2008.

Mr. Kong Fan (FLFL), aged 33, was appointed as an executive
Director in March 2025. He has been serving as the deputy
general manager of Wuhan Show Life since May 2022. From
January 2020 to April 2022, Mr. Kong served as a manager
at Dongxing International Travel Agency (Hubei) Company
Limited* (REZBEEMRIT+# GHIE) BRAE) ("Dongxing
International”). Mr. Kong served as a senior manager at China
Merchandise Supermarket Company Limited* (FREI® B4R
BAEMAT) from September 2017 to December 2019. From
September 2015 to August 2017, Mr. Kong worked at Siam Air
with his last position as a manager of the Marketing Department.
Mr. Kong graduated with a bachelor’s degree from the Zhengzhou
University in June 2015.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ruan Jian (Btfi), aged 44, was appointed as a non-
executive Director in March 2025. He has been serving as the
deputy general manager of Hubei Dongxing International Travel
Agency Company Limited* GH1bER 2B RTHERAR)
(“Hubei Dongxing”) since November 2018. Mr. Ruan served as
a manager of the sales department at Siam Air from May 2015 to
October 2018. From April 2009 to May 2015, Mr. Ruan worked
at Hubei Dongxing with his last position as a manager of the
Marketing Department. From April 2007 to March 2009, Mr. Ruan
served as a manager at the marketing department of East Star
Airlines Company Limited* ((REMZEFRAF). From August
2004 to March 2007, Mr. Ruan served as a manager at Hubei
Dongxing. Mr. Ruan graduated with a bachelor's degree from the
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in July 2003.

Mr. Zheng Yu (B85F), aged 37, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in March 2025. He has been serving as the general
manager of Wuhan Erchang Beverages Company Limited* (&2
“RENEIBBRAB]) since June 2020. From September 2017 to
May 2020, Mr. Zheng served as the general manager at Wuhan
Huazhen Foods Company Limited* (F’2ZFEZHBRERAT).
Mr. Zheng graduated with a bachelor’s degree from the Hubei
University in July 2016.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Pan Hong (G&1I), aged 32, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in May 2025. She holds an
associate degree from Hubei Science and Technology College.
She has accumulated extensive experience in the accounting field.
She served as an accountant at Wuhan Guanxin Jingsheng Data
Technology Co., Limited from June 2019 to April 2022. Since
May 2022, she has been working as the accounting manager at
Wuhan Travel Tian Di Network Technology Co., Limited, where
she oversees the accounting department and ensures financial
accuracy and compliance.

*  For identification purpose only

FEHITES

Pef@kd 445 N E-_RHE= ﬁ%é&
BIFRNTEFT - HEZZ—N\FE+—BZE

ZPHIERE2EABRTHERAR UMti
E)RBEE - EN _S—HERRE
TE-N\E+BETEEMTHEIMK
B R _EBEEAFNREIN _E—HERA
e E Bt RETE HREBHBUZEH
I _ B L EFENAE_TTNE=
Bt EREMTEERAREXEIBL
Be _ZENMENBE_SZTLE=H I
A EHILE R RN BT =
FEtREENTEMEBAKRSE MEE2L

Bfye

BFEEE 3VE R _E_LEE=-—FESHF
BN TES - RE_ST_TEHREF
RE MO ARADBEE R _T—+
FNBEE_ZEFRR BWREETR
BEEETRAERAEINEKIE - BELER T
E—RNEFETtRAEBEMNPILAZ NEELTZE

fi o

BIFRITES

Bt 302m R_BE_RETRESHT
%%j#%ﬁ%$«ﬁ$¥mﬂtﬂ&%¥
Bl - BAEASZERE - R EtEREEE
EASE - ﬁm: nﬁmﬂi_gii
Emﬁ#&ﬁ&ﬁgaﬁ@ﬁﬂ&ﬁ@“

g5t BIE__ER AR FELRE
mﬁ%%m%ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂaﬁwﬁ =§=1
ROt IR BEREEMG R T

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER

07



08

Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management

SEMEREEEREFIE

Mr. Wu Wenchang (23 &), aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in May 2025. He obtained a
bachelor of Tourism Management from Hubei University of Science
and Technology in China. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in the
tourism industry. From July 2003 to August 2006, he served as the
manager at a travel service company. He then moved to a tourism
development company as a senior manager from August 2006
to April 2024. Currently, he serves as the general manager of a
tourism company. His career demonstrates a steady progression
in the tourism sector, with over two decades of professional
experience. Mr. Wu's career progression provides strong evidence
of his leadership skills.

Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (Rf#3), aged 44, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in May 2025. He
has approximately 20 years of audit, accounting and finance
related work experience and obtained a Master of Corporate
Governance degree from Hong Kong Metropolitan University. He
is currently pursuing his master's degree in laws with specialization
in international and commercial law from The University of
Greenwich. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Financial
Accountants, a member of The Institute of Certified Forensic
Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute. Mr. Yuen is the independent non-executive
director of Hao Bai International (Cayman) Limited (Stock code:
8431) and China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 48); and the company secretary of China licheng
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1027). Mr. Yuen was until March
2025 the company secretary of GREATER BAY AREA DYNAMIC
GROWTH HOLDING LIMITED (Stock code: 1189), until July 2024
the company secretary of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 1246) and until July 2024 the company secretary of Jiyi
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1495). He previously served as the
manager of an audit firm and the technical director of a licensed
trust or company service provider incorporated in Hong Kong.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chen Li (BR77), aged 36, was appointed as company
secretary of the Company on 19 March 2025. She is also the chief
financial officer of the Company. She has been working in the
Finance Department of Hubei Dongxing since September 2010.
Ms. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree from Wenhua College of
Huazhong University of Science and Technology in June 2010. She
received another bachelor's degree from Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law in June 2023.

However, following the resignation of Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet
Horace and Ms. Lam Wing Tung as the Joint Company Secretary
of the Company on 9 April 2024, the Company was not able to
meet the requirement under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is still in the process of identifying a suitable candidate
as soon as practicable in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules to ensure compliance by the Company with Rule 3.28
of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Report
et

The directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Directors”)
are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024
(the "Year").

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development and sale of
battery management systems and spare parts, high-tech electric
motor vehicles, and advanced batteries materials. The Group is
also engaged in the provision of finance leasing services.

The Group has been engaging in the development of electric
vehicles for over a decade. The Group has established a team of
experts with extensive experience and expertise in a wide variety
of applications in the automobile industry, which forms part of
our core strengths in the development of, among other things,
advanced and high quality batteries, battery management systems
and related technologies.

The global automotive industry is on an evolutionary fast track
towards electric mobility. To capture the mass market of the high-
tech electric motor vehicles successfully, the Company has put its
faith in the continuous improvement of higher quality batteries,
parts and technology to provide cleaner, safer and more robust
power for electric vehicles.

In the 2024, the uncertain macroeconomic environment and the
generally cautious and conservative market sentiment continued
to adversely affect the progress of the Group’s development
of electric vehicles, and significantly hindered the negotiation
progress with potential business partners or investors.

As a result of these challenges, coupled with the uncertainties in
the global economy, the business development of the Group had
been significantly disrupted during the Year. Consequently, the
Group did not record any revenue and gross profit for the Year.

The Group implemented effective and strict cost control policies,
the operating expenses for the Year decreased to approximately
HK$13.8 million (2023: HK$22.4 million), which consisted of
employee benefit expenses (including wages and salaries, pension
costs and other benefits) of approximately HK$6.6 million (2023:
HK$13.2 million).

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024

KABEESE ((EFGINESR) MAER
NEIRE (TRER)) ZEEHRE_S_NFE+Z
B=+—HBLIHFE (XFE) 2EFTRE
EERARABRENBAT ((FEH) 2&
BREEMBHRK-

BEREmE SR
E#5ORE

FEEFERFEBNEERARERFEE
B R B B K S i Bt 1 1 B9 B 38 K 8
B AEETTRMHMEEERS -

FEECREEHAEFEBE+F -5
% (HPER tEREEN ENEERK
REBEERMME  ~ERER T EREEN
EXER LEABTERTEBRAZEE
M e AEBZOGFEEZ—-

ENAREAZEERS 2 RRRRE -
HMEMIBESHREHEZEATSGHE
ARBREFEAREBEZBM B K
Riff HBBERHEERF EXE2REBA
MzEhHe

RIZTEFE RRQERBE AR EERE
BERTHNHHBEEFENAEESE
BREZ T RBERAMNEE BAREEEE
REBEEBEHUREEEBZEE

ARZENE BNEKEEFENES T
ARRER AEENEFERNAEERD
BETE-RIL AEERAFELRRS
FEARmRER -

NEBME A R BB R A EHIEEE &
FEKERRZ RV EL13,800,0008 7T (&
T =4F 122,400,000/ 7T) c BIEREER
M (BEIERFTE EBREMER
HMEH]) 496,600,000 5 (B =
13,200,000 7T) ©



As a result of the above factors, the loss for the Year of the Group
decreased to approximately HK$13.8 million (2023: HK$22.0
million) and the loss attributable to shareholders for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$13.7 million (2023: HK$21.9
million).

Nevertheless, the Company believes that its continuous efforts
and perseverance will bring the Group's business development
back on track or even to the next level. These efforts include but
not limited to the research and development of technological
advancement in the automotive industry, reviewing and making
reforms on its on-going projects, exploring, expanding or
reinforcing the cooperation and collaboration with its business
alliances and/or potential business partners. The Company is
confident that the Group will gradually catch up as the global
economy gradually improves in the future and will strive to achieve
the next success milestone in the automotive industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's revenue and gross profit for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil) and HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil).
The loss attributable to shareholders for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$13.7 million (2023: HK$21.9 million). The loss
for the Year was mainly attributable to the administrative expenses
of approximately HK$13.8 million (2023: HK$22.4 million).

The administrative expenses for the Year decreased to
approximately HK$13.8 million (2023: HK$22.4 million) which was
mainly attributed to the decrease in employee benefit expenses
(including wages and salaries, pension costs and other benefits)
from approximately HK$13.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to HK$6.6 million for the Year.

The uncertain macroeconomic environment and the generally
cautious and conservative market sentiment continued to
significantly hinder the business development of the Group. In
addition, the Group has experienced unprecedented difficulties
in raising capital for its business development. As such, business
development remained stagnant during the Year and there was no
significant increase in the revenue and gross profit, or the financial
performance, of the Group for the Year.
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Directors’ Report
et

PROSPECT AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF
THE GROUP

The Company has a long-term commitment to the global
automobile industry, which is constantly involving.

In-vehicle audio-visual and short drama business

The Group has the intention to launch into the in-vehicle audio-
visual and short drama business in 2025. The growing number of
vehicles, especially new energy ones, is boosting demand for in-car
entertainment. At the same time, digital media growth is driving
demand for short drama content. Consumers now expect higher
quality and more diverse content in both areas, creating a broad
market opportunity. The active automotive market and digital
media progress further enhance the potential for stable growth in
these businesses.

The Board sees potential in integrating in-vehicle audio-visual and
short drama content into a business model, especially in the era
of smart vehicles. Short dramas are one of the most promising
content areas today. By entering this business, the Group can use
its high-tech strengths to expand its business scope and diversify
revenue sources.

The Group is currently preparing for the launch of this new
business. If launched, it will leverage its technological advantages
to enter the fast-growing market and achieve its expansion goals.

Development of electric vehicles

The Group is engaged in development of electric motor vehicle for
over a decade.

After experiencing years of concept and prototype development,
the Group possesses technological capabilities in all major areas
and component for the production of an electric vehicle. After
launching a series of prototypes and concept cars in various
international car shows since 2017, the Group received positive
feedbacks and continued to optimise the prototypes to improve
the competitiveness of its product portfolio.
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Building on the above success, the Company had formulated
a plan to transit into the production stage. As such, the Group
was exploring opportunities to enter into the stage of product
and manufacturing process development, industrialisation
and production. Nevertheless, the operation of the Group
was significantly affected by the outbreak of COVID-19 as the
collaboration between the international research and development
team of the Group was restricted. In addition, the Group's
negotiation with the business partners and authorities for the
establishment of manufacturing bases were also inevitably
suspended. The cautious investment sentiment has further stalled
any negotiation progress with the business partners. As such,
there has been no material development in the transition into the
industrialisation since the outbreak of COVID-19.

Upon gradual recovery of the impact of COVID-19 in the PRC
and in the event the financing opportunities materialise, the
Group may commence its development plan for industrialisation,
including but not limited to (i) renovation of the existing facilities
for assembly area; (ii) procurement and fine-tuning of robotic
arms for production; (iii) optimisation of manufacturing process
and engineering parts of the components; and (iv) obtaining the
relevant permissions and registration in mass production of electric
vehicles in the PRC.

However, the uncertainty of the global economic situation, trade
frictions, and exchange rate fluctuations continue to affect its
development plan. The Group will actively explore financing
opportunities and commence its development plan as soon as
possible.

Proposed acquisition

To facilitate the development of electric vehicles and expansion
of manufacturing capability of components of electric vehicles,
the Group has continued to identify potential collaboration or
acquisition opportunities.

On 28 August 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement for a proposed acquisition of the entire
equity interest of Best Knob International Limited together with
its subsidiaries, (the “"Target Group”) (the “Acquisition”), which
are principally engaged in manufacturing of automobile parts,
including transmission gearbox, systems and accessories. Details
of the Acquisition are disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 17 October 2022, 8 March 2023, 31 August
2023, 30 November 2023 and 1 February 2024. As at the date of
this report, the Acquisition is yet to be completed.
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Leveraging on the Group’s experience, know-how and technology
in battery systems and designs of high-tech electric motor
vehicles, and the transmission system and customer portfolio of
the Target Group, the Company considers the Acquisition may
create synergy effect by (i) allowing the Group to expand its
manufacturing capability for the industrialisation of its electric
vehicles; (ii) expanding the sales channel of the Group’s products
to leading automobile manufacturers in the PRC; (iii) integrating
the supply of transmission parts of the Target Group together with
the battery packs and system of the Group; and (iv) accelerating
the continuous research and development of battery and electric
vehicle technologies.

In the event the above development plan materialises, the
Company is confident that the Group will secure stable revenue
stream to continue the development of electric vehicles and
improve the profitability of the Group in the future.

Financing opportunities

On top of the ongoing financial support of the Major Shareholder,
the Board has been proactively exploring all possible financial
alternatives including but not limited to equity financing, debt
financing, rights issue, open offer or bank borrowings, to finance
its business development.

In particular, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
for the Subscription in May 2023 as further set out in the section
headed “Fund Raising Activities During the Year” below in this
report.

In the event the above financing opportunities arise, the

Company is confident that it will be able implement its business
development plan to develop the electric vehicle business.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Update on the legal proceedings against members of
the Group

Legal dispute with XALT

As regards the attempts of the Group to settle the dispute and
the subsequent civil lawsuit against the Company and one of
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Billion Energy Holdings Limited
(“Billion Energy”), initiated in 2017 by Townsend Ventures LLC,
XALT Energy LLC and XALT Energy MI, LLC (collectively, “XALT"),
which centered on the supply agreement dated 25 March 2015
entered into between Billion Energy and XALT Energy M, LLC for
the supply of battery cells (as disclosed and referred to in the 2020
annual report of the Company), the Company had continued to
seek legal advice to prepare for the initiation of the arbitration
proceedings while exploring possible mediation with XALT during
the Year.

Having considered (i) the reasonable efforts made by the Group
to search for the additional information to commence arbitration
proceedings and possible mediation all these years; (ii) the US
Legal Opinion in respect of the laws of the United States as
disclosed herein; and (iii) the Group’s financial condition and
resources currently available to the Company, the Board has
decided not to further pursue legal proceedings in this regard at
this stage.

While it is not entirely within the control of the Company as to
whether or when the legal dispute or civil lawsuit against the
Group will be resolved or concluded, the Group will continue to
make efforts to, among other things, (i) seek professional advice
to explore possibilities of recovering any of the Prepayment; and
(i) proactively approach the new management of XALT to re-
activate the negotiations so as to seek a mutually acceptable
solution to resolve the dispute and the lawsuit amicably and more
expeditiously, seek professional advice on the Group's strategies
over the resolution of the dispute to safeguard the interests of the
Group.

As at the date of this report, the Group is in the process of
negotiations with the management of XALT to recover the
Prepayment. The Company will make further announcement(s) to
keep its shareholders informed of any material development as
and when appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL

Save as disclosed below, the Group did not have material
acquisition or disposal of assets during the Year and any future
plans for material investment or capital assets.

On 28 August 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire the entire equity interest of Best
Knob International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, at a consideration of HK$392 million,
which will be settled by the issuance of promissory notes in the
principal amount of HK$392 million (the “Acquisition”). As at
the date of this report, the Acquisition is yet to be completed,
further announcements on the progress of the Acquisition will be
made by the Company as and when appropriate.

On 1 February 2024, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to amend certain
terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The Consideration
for the Sale Shares shall be revised as HK$228.0 million (the
“"Revised Consideration”), which is determined after arm's
length negotiations between the Company as purchaser and
Best Knob International Limited (“Vendor A") and Chang Da
International Limited (“Vendor B"), each as a vendor, and the
Revised Consideration shall be settled by the way of issuance of
Promissory Notes, where the principal amount of which shall be
revised as to (i) HK$162,450,000 by the Company to the Vendor
A; and (i) HK$65,550,000 to Vendor B.

Details of the Acquisition are disclosed in the announcements of

the Company dated 17 October 2022, 8 March 2023, 31 August
2023, 30 November 2023 and 1 February 2024.
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

On 29 May 2023, the Company and Mr. Zhou Zuan (the
“Subscriber A") , a third party independent of the Company and
its connected persons, entered into the subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement A"), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber A
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the 2-year convertible
bond (the “Convertible Bond”) in the principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 with 5% interest per annum to be issued by
the Company and subscribed by the Subscriber A, which may be
converted into a total of 1,000,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company of HK$0.10 each (the “Conversion Shares”) to
be allotted and issued by the Company pursuant to the exercise
of the conversion right attached to the Convertible Bond at the
initial conversion price of HK$0.10 per Conversion Share, subject
to the adjustment pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Bond (the “Subscription”). The initial Conversion
Price per Conversion Share represents a premium of approximately
244.8% over the closing price of HK$0.029 per share of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of
the Subscription Agreement A. The net Conversion Price, after
deduction of relevant expenses, is approximately HK$0.0995 per
Conversion Share.

On 20 September 2022, the Company and M6 Investments
L.L.C. (the “Subscriber B"”), a third party independent of the
Company and its connected persons, entered into the subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement B”), pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
and the Subscriber B has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for 2,000,000,000 shares (the “Subscription Share”) of the
Company at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per Subscription
Share. As additional time is required for the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent under the Subscription Agreement B, the
long stop date have been agreed to further extend to 30 June
2025 (or such other time and date as the parties may agree
in writing). Details of above subscription are disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 26 September 2022,
16 February 2023, 30 September 2024 and 27 March 2025. As
at the date of this report, the above subscription is yet to be
completed.
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On 28 August 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to acquire the entire equity interest of Best
Knob International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, at a consideration of HK$392 million
which shall be settled by the issuance of promissory notes by
the Company. Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the
consideration in respect of the Acquisition shall be revised as
HK$228.0 million. For details of the Acquisition, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 17 October 2022, 8
March 2023, 31 August 2023 and 1 February 2024. As at the
date of this report, the Acquisition is yet to be completed.

The net proceeds from the Subscription shall amount to
approximately HK$99.5 million. The Company intends to apply
(i) 50% of the net proceeds for the settlement of the promissory
notes to be issued by the Company under the Acquisition; (ii)
30% of the net proceeds as to working capital of the Company
for business development; and (iii) 20% of the net proceeds
as to general working capital of the Company. Details of the
Subscription are disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 29 May 2023, 14 June 2023, 3 July 2023, 31 August
2023> 31 December 2023, 23 May 2024 and 30 September
2024. As at the date of this report, the Subscription is yet to be
completed.

Save for the above, the Company had not undertaken any
fund raising activity and there were no other transactions in the
securities of the Company or of its subsidiaries during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the
Year.

As at the date of this report, save as disclosed elsewhere in
this report, the Group does not have any plan for significant
investment or capital assets for the year ending 31 December
2024.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING
PERIOD

Save for the (i) appointment of Ms. Hou Bosson Ying, as the
executive Director, as announced by the Company on 20
December 2024 and resignation of the executive Director, as
announced by the Company on 19 March 2025; (ii) resignation
of Mr. On Ka Shing, as the independent non-executive Director,
as announced by the Company on 17 February 2025; (iii)
appointment of Mr. Shan Chuanlong, as the executive Director
and authorized representative of the Company, as announced by
the Company on 18 March 2025; (iv) appointment of Mr. Kong
Fan, as the executive Director, as announced by the Company on
18 March 2025 and appointment of Mr. Kong Fan, as authorised
representative of the Company, as announced by the Company
on 20 March 2025; (v) appointment of Mr. Ruan Jian, as the non-
executive Director, as announced by the Company on 18 March
2025; (vi) appointment of Mr. Zheng Yu, as the non-executive
Director, as announced by the Company on 18 March 2025; (vii)
appointment of Ms. Chen Li, as the company secretary and chief
financial officer of the Company, as announced by the Company
on 18 March 2025; (viii) resignation of Mr. Liu Stephen Quan,
as the executive Director, as announced by the Company on 19
March 2025; (ix) resignation of Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim, as the non-
executive Director, as announced by the Company on 19 March
2025; (x) resignation of Dr. Zhu Guobin, as the independent non-
executive Director, as announced by the Company on 19 March
2025; (xi) resignation of Dr. Li Jianyong, the independent non-
executive Director, as announced by the Company on 19 March
2025; (xii) appointment and resignation of Ms. Tang Po Yi, as
the independent non-executive Director, as announced by the
Company on 19 March 2025 and 14 May 2025 respectively;
(xiii) resignation of Dr. Yeung Yung, as the executive Director, as
announced by the Company on 24 March 2025; (xiv) resignation
of Mr. Chen Xiao, as the executive Director, as announced by
the Company on 24 March 2025; (xv) appointment of Ms. Pan
Hong, as the independent non-executive Director, as announced
by the Company on 14 May 2025; (xvi) appointment of Mr. Wu
Wenchang and Mr. Yuen Wai Keung, as the independent non-
executive Directors, as announced by the Company on 29 May
2025; there are no other important events affecting the Group
which have occurred since the end of the Year up to the date of
this report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the total deficiency in equity of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$212.7 million (31
December 2023: HK$200.8 million).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2024 measured
in terms of total liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity was
approximately 100.2% (31 December 2023: 101.9%).

As at 31 December 2024, the net current liabilities of the Group
were approximately HK$212.7 million (31 December 2023:
HK$201.1 million). The cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$0.2 million (31 December 2023: HK$0.8 million). The Group
has an outstanding shareholder’s loan of HK$101.0 million (31
December 2023: HK$101.1 million), which is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, no borrowing was made by the Group.

The Group adopts a conservative and balanced treasury policy in
cash and financial management. The Group's cash is generally
placed as deposits mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars or
Renminbi. To manage liquidity risk, the Group regularly reviews
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group's assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its funding
requirements.
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PLEDGE OF THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the assets of the Group had
been pledged (31 December 2023: Nil) to the Group's bankers
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group or
otherwise.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

During the Year, almost all of the income and expenditure of the
Group were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar and/
or United States dollar. The Group had no significant exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuations and, therefore, had not taken any
financial instruments for hedging purpose.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group had a total of approximately 22 employees as at 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: 55 employees). It has been
the Group’s policy to ensure that the remuneration levels of the
Directors and its employees are reviewed and rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group's salary and bonus system. Share options (Following the
expiry of Share Option Scheme on 21 June 2023, no Share Option
maybe or has been granted thereunder.) may also be granted to
the Directors and employees of the Group to attract, retain and
incentivise them to work and make contribution towards the long
term growth and development of the Group. During the Year,
staff costs (including Director’s remuneration) was approximately
HK$6.6 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$13.2
million).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee"”)
had reviewed and discussed with the management of the
Company regarding the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION BY THE AUDITOR

Views of the Audit Committee and the Board
on the disclaimer of opinion of the Auditor

The Audit Committee and the Board consider that the Company
have provided all available audit evidence to the Auditor and,
except for the uncertainty or possible effect of the matters leading
to the Auditor’s Disclaimer of Opinion, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year give a true and fair view
of the performance and financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024.

The Audit Committee and the Board, after discussion with
the Auditor on its basis of the Disclaimer of Opinion, have the
following views:

Scope limitation related to going concern

Background

The Group incurred a loss of HK$13,813,000 million for the
Year and as at 31 December 2024 the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$212,675,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$212,675,000. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
were prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon, among other matters, (i) the continuing financial
support from a shareholder of the Company, and (i) the ability
of the Company to successfully raise funds for the Group at a
level sufficient to finance the working capital requirements of the
Group.
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Continuing financial support from a shareholder

The Audit Committee and the Board have confidence in the
shareholder’s continued commitment and support towards the
Group as had been demonstrated in the past, and believe that the
shareholder is ready, willing and able to offer such other assistance
(financial or otherwise) to the Group to enhance its financial
flexibility and capability as and when the circumstances arise.

In order to assess the financial ability of the shareholder and
the validity of the financial support from the shareholder, the
evidence and supporting documents requested by the Auditor
have been provided by the shareholder and the Company, which
included, but not limited to, proof of funds of the shareholder
for demonstrating that the shareholder has the financial ability to
provide support to the Company.

Other fundraising opportunities

Despite the cautious investment sentiment as a result of
uncertainties surrounding the global economy and the prevailing
high interest rate during the Year, the Board has been proactively
exploring all possible financial alternatives including but not
limited to equity financing, debt financing, rights issue, open offer
or bank borrowings.

On 29 May 2023, the Company and the Subscriber, a third
party independent of the Company and its connected persons,
entered into a Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Convertible Bond in
the principal amount of HK$100,000,000. The Convertible Bond
carries an interest rate of 5 percent per annum and is repayable in
two years, which may be converted into a total of 1,000,000,000
Conversion Shares to be allotted and issued by the Company
pursuant to the exercise of the conversion right attached to the
Convertible Bond at the initial conversion price of HK$0.10 per
Conversion Share, subject to the adjustment pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the Convertible Bond. For further details, please
refer to the section of “FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES DURING THE
YEAR" of this annual report.
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The Board’s and Audit Committee’s views on the scope
limitation related to going concern

Taking into account of the above, the Audit Committee agreed
with the management’s view that the Group will have sufficient
working capital for the operation and development of its business
for at least twelve months from the end of the reporting period
of the Year. As such, the Audit Committee agreed with the
management’s view that the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the Year were prepared on a going concern basis.

With the continued support from the shareholder, together
with the unwavering efforts and commitment of the Company’s
management in seeking potential collaborations and investment
opportunities for the Group with a view to improving the
liquidity, operation and performance of the Group in the long
run, the Audit Committee and the Board believes that, the
Company will manage to have sufficient working capital for the
operation and development of the Group's business, or in the
event of resumption of trading of the shares of the Company,
the Company will have sufficient capital to proceed with the
Acquisition (as defined below) to accelerate the development of
its electric vehicle business, so that the disclaimer of opinion in
relation to the scope limitation will not be carried forward to the
Group’s financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2025.

The Audit Committee considered that the scope limitation related
to going concern will not be carried forward to the Group's
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2025
based on (a) the shareholder, who has been demonstrating his
continued commitment and support towards the Group, entering
into the shareholder’s loan agreement with the Company; (b) the
Subscription; and (c) the Company’s continued exploration of fund
raising opportunities and collaborations with potential business
partners and investors, including but not limited to the potential
subscription of shares by the Potential Subscribers.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out in the annual report on page
128. The summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’
report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Shan Chuanlong (Chairman)
Mr. Kong Fan

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Ruan Jian
Mr. Zheng Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ms. Pan Hong

Mr. Wu Wenchang

Mr. Yuen Wai Keung
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to any director(s)
or chief executive of the Company, the following parties (other
than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the
Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to
be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company:

FERRNRETQE RSP 2HERD

ATE_ME+_BA=+—H> MEATME
MEEXRSTHAEMA FAALT CR
BREAQNDEFTIRSTHRAL) REAQE]
5% EZ BETRATES RHELE
BARABRIBEES RBEKRY (FEEHSH
571%) (IESKRIAG®EA) H5336EkEEZ
BRfMai NEBTHERABTZEE
oIS

Number
Name Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares Percentage
B 51 EmttE [iabg S 4=| Bt
(Note 2)
(F¥zE2)
Sun East LLC Beneficial owner (Note 1) 2,673,071,189 13.13%

BamER A (1)

Notes:

1. Sun East LLC is owned as to 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the US) and
65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip) and Mr Jimmy
Wang (alias Wang Jian) as co-trustees for certain trusts established
for the benefit of the children of Dr Yeung Yung on 30 December
2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well as his spouse) was deemed to be
interested in these 2,673,071,189 Shares held by Sun East LLC
under Part XV of the SFO.

2. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024 and does
not take into account any Shares which may fall to be allotted and
issued upon exercise of any subscription rights attaching to any
share options granted by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no person, other than those Directors
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions” below, had registered an
interest or short positions in the share capital or underlying shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded under Section
336 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follow:

(1) Long positions in the ordinary share (each a
“Share”) of HK$0.10 each in the Company

DwecKys Repoﬂ
S EEHE

ESRBETHARZMER

BR

HHH

RIZZNE+ZA=+—H ARBESE
REEITBRABRARRHE AR BN EE
(EERFBHRPEHRMEXVE) 275~
RN IESFFPEERBR S KGR
BIEIS2EARBFE 2SIt 3
ERE LR ERCIFE L HEEITAE
BETRFRZNEESTA (MREFA)) 3
THEARB MBIz ERmRXBUT .

(1) RAEREESREE010ETEER
EH—KReR) 2=

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Number of Shares  Capacity/Nature of interest shareholding
E5t4 RABE B EEEE IREMLABE L
(Note 1)
(FF=E1)
Yeung Yung (resigned on 2,673,071,189 Interest of controlled corporation
24 March 2025) (Note 2)  SELAEMEH
R (R ZFEZFHF (F5E2)
=B +IOHEHT)
68,140,000 Beneficial owner
EmEAA
2,741,211,189 13.47%
(Note 3)
(FF5E3)
Liu Stephen Quan (resigned on 269,760,000 Founder of trust
19 March 2025) (Note 4) Interest of children under 18
RN -FZHEF (zx4)  fEFERIGBA
=B+ HET) ST e S
10,000,000 Beneficial owner
BEEEA
279,760,000 1.37%
Chen Xiao (resigned on 25,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.12%
24 March 2025) BEHEEBA

BREE (R —F 4 4F
=ZAZ AT

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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Notes:

SR e

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024 and
did not take into account any Shares which may fall to be
allotted and issued upon exercise of any subscription rights
attaching to any share options granted by the Company.

These Shares are held by Sun East LLC. Sun East LLC is a
limited liability company incorporated in California, the US,
which is owned as to (i) 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the
US) and (i) 65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip)
and Mr Jimmy Wang (alias Wang Jian) as co-trustees for
certain trusts established for the benefit of the children of Dr
Yeung Yung on 30 December 2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well
as his spouse) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Sun East LLC by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

The spouse of Dr Yeung Yung is deemed to be interested in
the Shares beneficially held by Dr Yeung Yung by virtue of
Part XV of the SFO.

These Shares were indirectly owned by certain trusts of which
Mr Liu Stephen Quan were the founder. The children of
Mr Liu were eligible beneficiaries of the trusts. Mr Liu was
deemed to be interested in these Shares by virtue of Part XV
of the SFO.

Interests in share options of the Company

None of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
had or were deemed to have any interests or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2024.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company currently in force
was adopted on 13 June 2013 (the “Scheme”) pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 June
2013.

The following share options were outstanding during the period
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the "Period”):
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fig:

As at 1 January Redlassification Share options Share options Share options Share options ~ As at 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise
Name/Category of Participant 2024 during the Period granted cancelled lapsed exercised 2024 Grant Price Period
RZF-RE Bi#z B&HMZ RZF-ME
AR /BN -A-8 BRENSE  BRYUZBRE R BRE  BfEZHEBE  +ASt-B BHAEY iR frfes
Director
%
Li Zhengshan (resigned with effect from 50,000,000 - - - (50,000,000) - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
26 Apri 2024)
SR (B-E-RERF -+ HE liE:2] iE2] iE=]
A
Chen Xiao (resigned with effect from 50,000,000 - - - (50,000,000) - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
24 March 2025)
R (5_F_2FZF—+0RE W3 W3 liE]
#
Xia Tingkang, Tim (resigned with effect 10,000,000 - - - (10,000,000) - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
from 19 March 2025)
BRR(E_E-ZF=F1AAE liE:2] liE=] liE=]
#
Thu Guobin (resigned with effect from 10,000,000 - - - (10,000,000) - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
19 March 2025)
KA (B-F-rE=A1AAE Mz iE2] iE=]
A
Li lianyong (fesigned with effect from 20,000,000 - - - (20,000,000) - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
19 March 2025)
3RE (BSR4 AABE W3 W3 liE]
#
Sub Total: 140,000,000 S S - (140,000,000) - -
Nt
Employee (in aggregate) 111,000,000 = = = (111,000,000) S - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
&8 (53 W3 W3 W3
15,000,000 - - - - - 15,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
WS WS i
10,000,000 S S S S 5 10,000,000 Note 6 Note 6 Note 6
fste i3 liE3
Sub Total : 136,000,000 - - - (111,000,000) & 25,000,000
NGt
Other eligible persons: (in aggregate) 21,000,000 - - - (21,000,000) - - Note 2 Note 2 Note 2
(Note 8) a2} Mgt a2}
EtAERAL  (B3) (H8) 397,500,000 S o S (397,500,000) & > Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
iE2] Mz iG]
400,000,000 - - - - - 400,000,000 Note 4 Note 4 Note 4
B2 Wiz Miz4
Sub Total 818,500,000 - - - (418,500,000) - 400,000,000
it
Total : 1,094,500,000 - - - (669,500,000) - 425,000,000
@&t
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Notes:

These share options were granted on 6 September 2013 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.108 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 6 September 2013 to 5
September 2023.

These share options were granted on 29 July 2014 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1136 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 29 July 2014 to 28 July
2024.

These share options were granted on 20 November 2014 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.201 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 20 November 2014 to 19
November 2024.

These share options were granted on 14 July 2015 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.395 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 14 July 2015 to 13 July
2025.

These share options were granted on 9 December 2016 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.228 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 9 December 2016 to
8 December 2026.

These share options were granted on 20 January 2017 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1872 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 20 January 2017 to 19
January 2027.
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The principal terms of the Scheme are briefly summarised below: SR FEERBAIT -

)

Purpose of the Scheme

stEIZ B/

Participants of the Scheme

stEz2

As incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group

EREERSRENAERFLEMEEE SR ZHE MR

a)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any entity (the “Invested
Entity”) in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

KA HAEFMBRADNAEREARE AT FHEEANREZ
FERIER (FHREBR) 2 EAES (TR BoRE 8iFF
AHITEZEFBFEERIFNTES) ;

any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors), any of the subsidiaries of the Company or any Invested
Entity;
RABEABRABNERAEEERZERIFRNTES (B85
BIFFRITESR) ;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

REBERIKNEABINEMMMIREER Y TAERHRFBHE
[

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

FEBNERAREBRZEAER ;

any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
REEESNEAMREBRIRHE RS EMERN R ZE
AIALHER ;

any shareholder of any member of the Group other than the
Company or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
AEBEFAHRERE (RABFRIN RERAREBR ZERR
o NAEBEEANERATNERAFAKREBRAETENRSZ
CREEST=PN

any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and
AEBERAHERANEFMEEER I EBNEBERPE
I EZEFIRER (Ram~ B E S EMEAR) A 5 &

any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group.

BREECE ERHBENEMERTBMB AN EHAER
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3)  Total number of Shares available The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
for issue under the Scheme the exercise of all options (excluding such options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme (the

“General Scheme Limit").

RARET 8 HEBTHRM B R EiRE S RAEREAEMBEREABRETREZAEBRE (7
BERES S RAERTAAMBRES S ZHERERM ZBRE)
BITEMAERERETZROMBUSH I SBBH ASBERSE
TR17210% (T—ResH &I EPR)) ©

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek approval of
its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit
provided that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit. For
the purpose of calculating the refreshed limit, such options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) previously
granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Group will not be counted.

ESERAZIRRE T ARAB A SKRERRERRAG EHEFH—
AestEl LR - AR 8 R A ERE A HEMBRES SR TREZ
FRE MR T M Al AEAC 8 R B T Z RN BB NS BBHEL TN
LFIREBEZEHITRHZ10% Bt BLEEM LIRME > AR &
R EBEAEMBRESZIRE 2 AMEBRE (B1FRRBs8 kA
EBE M HEMBRESTEIRITE B2  BRAMEBITEZBERE)
TEFBEIERN-

Upon the date of approval of the refreshment of the General Scheme
Limit by its shareholders on 31 October 2017, the Company may issue
up to 2,033,787,274 Shares (the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit"),
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at
31 October 2017.

A _E—tFETRB=+—BREMEET—fstE LIRBBE AR
BRI 81T iBi82,033,787, 274 i 17 (TR EHM—ARstEI EMR)) - BIA
REAIN_E—tHE+RA=1+—HZBETEREZ10% -

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme upon exercise of share options to be granted
under the Scheme is nil, representing nil of the total issued share capital
of the Company.

RAFRBE BEBEABR TRE 2 EBREEITHERTEIET A&7
ZRODBEEAS TRIGAATIERITRAER
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Maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Scheme
STEETER2REZ RS

The period within which the
option may be exercised by the
grantee under the Scheme

AR ANRBES 8 I E1T R IR
Z HAIR

The minimum period for
which an option must be
held before it can be exercised
(i.e. the vesting period)
BRIEFITREAAREZ
RIEAE B

The amount payable on
application or acceptance of
the option and the period
within which payments
shall be made

EREAS M RS R 2
B LUK Bz R IE 2 HAR

The basis of determining the
exercise price of options
granted

EREERETEECETELE

Directors’ Report

BEETHNT %

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme was 2,033,787,274 as at 1 January 2023 and nil as at 31
December 2023. The Company did not grant any share options during
the period from 1 January 2023 to 12 June 2023. Following the expiry of
Scheme on 12 June 2023, no share option may be or has been granted
thereunder.

B =F—A—BERIZI=F+ZA=+—H REERES
B oI 2 R B 9 5%2,033,787 274 RE-B T "=
—B—BEIZZ=FAA+ITHIEHE AAB W ER B EAER
R BN ZE=FA+t"HERmE HETIEAEFRER
ERHZERE

In any 12-month period, shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
PRAERER Z BB SBEaEEITRMNZ1%

The Board may in its absolute discretion determine save that such period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant

EFTVEHNBEREXIR  EZHRAFENHR L BHEs+
FrEm

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, no minimum period

BRIFEFEEXRAEE SR EREHE

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall inform the Company
together with HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant within 30 days
from the date of offer

PRI IE IR IERS AR A AN HEA B ES30RAM G A RT3
TATERRENE

The exercise price is determined by the Board and being not less than the
highest of:

TEEHEFEREATAIERUT=EZERSE !

a)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of shares
on the date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or
RONBHENHI (BAEEH) MXMEARERMIIMHE
T—FREFROBEEGCRAZWHE; 5
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the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board
lots of shares for the 5 business days immediately preceding the

date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or
BRONEFFELEBOH CAERAEERD) A EEXBMIME
AREXRFIIIHET —FAZFRNEEEAZFHRHE,;

Q) the nominal value thereof

Rin Z EE

9)  The remaining life of the Scheme

518 = BRF 17

The Company is aware that under the new rule 17.03A of
the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023,
participants of share schemes shall only comprise of employee
participants, related entity participants and service providers
(as defined in the Listing Rules). The Company will only grant
the share options under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants in compliance with the new rule 17.03A and pursuant
to the transitional arrangements for share schemes existing as at 1
January 2023 as specified by the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensations.
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The Scheme expired on 12 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business were entered into or existed
during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recorded nil revenue, nil cost of sales and nil gross
profit for the Year. As such, the percentage of the Group’s
purchase and revenue (included continuing and discontinued
operations) attributable to the five largest suppliers and customers
respectively is inapplicable.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the “Related Party Transactions” constituted discloseable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules and all of such
transactions are fully exempt from any announcement, reporting,
annual review or independent shareholder’s approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 118 and note 26 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately
HK$Nil (2023: HK$NIil).

ANALYSIS OF BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

No borrowings was made and no interest was capitalised by the
Group during the Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

The number of issued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company as at 31 December 2024 was 20,352,872,747 (2023:
20,352,872,747).

Movements in share capital of the Company are shown in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed
distribution of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board and, where applicable, the approval of the Shareholders.
The Board will consider various factors before declaring or
recommending any payment of dividends which factors include
the results of operation of the business of the Group, the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, the Group’s actual and expected
financial performance, the general business conditions and
strategies, the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, the general economic conditions
and business cycle of the Group’s business, the future prospects
of the business of the Group, shareholders’ interests, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividend and other
internal or external factors that the Board deems appropriate.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend to shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company had maintained the prescribed level of public float as
required under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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DIRECTORS' INDEMNITIES

According to the Company’s bye-laws, each director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities (to the extent allowed by the
Companies Act, 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) which such
director may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
director’s duties or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group. Such
insurance to indemnify them against liabilities arising from the
execution of their duties was in force during the Year and remain
effective as at the date of the Directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The automotive industry is one of the most environmental aware
business sectors. To preserve the environment, the Group strives
to devise and adopt environmental friendly strategies, policies
and measures (through the concepts of reducing, re-using and re-
cycling) to achieve sustainable development, and is committed
to conducting its activities in @ manner consistent with the above
determination.

These strategies, policies and measures include but not limited
to (i) using energy-efficient lighting and appliances, recycling of
office supplies and other materials in the workplace to the extent
practicable, (ii) working or partnering with renowned academics
and strategic business partners in the research and development
of both technologically advanced and energy saving auto-
components and materials (such as single and few-layer graphene,
battery materials, super batteries and electric control systems) for
the electric buses, new engine and other vehicles designed and/or
manufactured by the Group, (iii) setting up or using energy-saving
and technologically advanced establishments and facilities for the
manufacture of new energy products for auto-use, (iv) setting
criteria for the selection of our suppliers and manufacturers which
must be reliable, financially sound, environmental conscientious
and are keen to adopt sustainability measures in their business
and operation and (v) educating and reinforcing environmental
protection awareness among employees of the Group.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board recognizes the importance of the Company to
act responsibly and due compliance with the laws, rules and
regulations applicable to the businesses operated by the Group.
The Group has employed suitable personnel and engaged
appropriate professional advisers to ensure that it stays abreast
with legislative changes and industry developments and its
operations are being run in line with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

During the Year, the Company had complied with, and the Board
is not aware of any violation of, the applicable laws, rules and
regulations that had a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group in any material respects.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to upholding a positive image for
the Group and building trust and loyalty among its stakeholders,
employees, customers, suppliers and other business partners. The
Board considers that the Company has all along maintained good
relationships with its stakeholders, employees, key customers,
suppliers and other business partners, which are beneficial to the
long-term development of the Group.

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited will retire at the conclusion of
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM"), and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Shan Chuanlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 May 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of
the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to ensure better transparency and protection of the overall
interests of the Company and its shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company wishes to
highlight that the Board will continue to devote efforts in
ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company and the
transparency and accountability of all operations.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year"”), the
Company had applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”).

The Company had met the relevant code provisions set out in the
Code during the Year, except the following deviations:

Code Provision C.1.6 of part 2 of the CG Code provides that
independent non-executive directors and other non-executive
directors should attend general meetings to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr On Ka
Shing, the former independent non-executive Director, attended
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2024.
All the other Directors were unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2024 due to other prior
commitment(s).

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. However, the
chief executive officer of the Company has been vacant following
the resignation of Mr. Feng Rui on 5 March 2024. Until the
appointment of new chief executive officer, the executive Directors
continue to oversee the day-to-day management of the business
and operations of the Group.
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NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE LISTING RULES

Following the resignation of Mr. On Ka Shing on 17 February
2025, Dr. Zhu Guobin and Dr. Li Jianyong on 19 March 2025,
the Company is not in compliance with among others, the
requirement that (i) the Board must include at least three
independent non-executive Directors; (i) the audit committee
of the Company must comprise a minimum of three members,
and (iii) the composition of the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) is below the
requirement under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, which stipulates
the Remuneration Committee must be chaired by an independent
non-executive director and must comprise a majority of
independent non-executive directors. Following the appointment
of Ms. Pan Hong on 14 May 2025 and the appointment of Mr.
Wu Wenchang and Mr. Yuen Wai Keung on 29 May 2025, the
Company re-complied with the above requirements under the
Listing Rules.

Following the resignation of Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace and
Ms. Lam Wing Tung as the Joint Company Secretary on 9 April
2024, the Company was not able to meet the requirement under
Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. The Company is still in the process
of identifying a suitable candidate as soon as practicable in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules to ensure
compliance by the Company with Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders of the Company
for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company and its
businesses by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and policies with
emphasis on the business growth and financial performance of the
Group.

The Board has determined that certain matters such as strategic
planning, significant transactions, and budget should be retained
for the Board's approval. It has formalized the functions reserved
to the Board to achieve a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the senior management of the Group. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities to the senior management to deal
with day-to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on
a periodic basis. The senior management has frequently reported
back to the Board and obtained prior approval before making
decisions for key matters or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Company with clear written terms of
reference. The Board had reviewed and monitor (where applicable)
(i) the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance,
and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (ii)
training and continuous professional development of its directors
and senior management; (iii) code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and (iv) this corporate governance report
in the discharge of its corporate governance functions and to
ensure compliance with the Listing Rules.

In order to maximize the effectiveness of the Board and to
encourage active participation and contribution from Board
members, the Board has established three Committees (namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) (the “Committee(s)”), each with
specific written terms of reference (which are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code) to
assist in the execution of their duties. The terms of reference of
each of the Committees are reviewed and amended (if necessary)
from time to time, as are the Committees’ structure, duties and
composition so as to best suit the needs of, and foster corporate
governance excellence in, the Company.
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The Company Secretary and the external auditor engaged by the
Company shall attend the annual general meeting (the “AGM")
of the Company and, as far as possible, all other meetings of the
Board and the committees of the Board to answer questions and
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance, accounting
and financial matters. The Company Secretary is an employee of
the Company and is appointed by the Board. All Directors have
access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for facilitating
the Board's processes, liaison among members of the Board and
the Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations under
the Listing Rules, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other laws, rules and regulations applicable to the
Group. During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training annually to update
his skills and knowledge.

All Directors are encouraged to propose and include items in the
agenda of each of the meetings of the Board and the Committees
for full discussion and deliberation. The Company Secretary is
delegated with the responsibility to prepare the agenda and,
where appropriate, take into account any matters proposed by any
Director/Committee member for inclusion in the agenda.

The Board meets regularly and at least four Board meetings are
scheduled annually at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened whenever necessary.

Due notice of Board meetings are given to or, depending on the
circumstances, urgency and/or importance of the matters, agreed
to be shortened or waived by all the Directors. Even though the
Directors often stay/travel in different time zones, they endeavour
to make themselves available for, and participate in the meetings
to the extent possible via teleconferencing mechanisms or other
electronic means.
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Minutes of the Board/Committee meetings are recorded in
details for the matters considered by the participants of such
meetings and decisions reached, including concerns raised by
Directors and/or dissenting views expressed. The meeting minutes
are circulated to the Directors or Committee members within a
reasonable period of time after the meetings are held and taken
as the true records of the proceedings of such meetings. They are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at
any reasonable time upon reasonable notice being served by any
Director. All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials at least 3 days before the intended date of
a Board or Board committee meeting unless there are restrictions
on disclosure due to legal and regulatory requirements or other
justifiable grounds.

Directors are provided with complete, adequate explanation and
information to enable them to make an informed decision or
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects
and to discharge their duties and responsibilities on a timely basis.
To enable the Directors to properly discharge their duties, they are
given access to independent professional advisers, when necessary,
at the expense of the Company.

The Board understands that independent views and input are
vital elements to good corporate governance. The Company
has mechanisms in place to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board, among others, each individual
Director can access to the advice from the senior management
and external independent professional of the Company directly,
when necessary. The Board reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the mechanisms on an annual basis.

Whenever a member of the Board or member of a committee of
the Board has cause to believe that a matter to be voted upon
would involve him in a conflict or possible conflict of interest, he
is required to disclose the conflict of interest and is not allowed
to participate in the final deliberation or decision and will abstain
from voting on such matter.
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IFFBONa S
Attendance Records of Board/General Meetings

The Board had held seven meetings during the Year.

Details of the attendance of individual Director at general
meetings (including annual general meeting) and Board meetings

%%@@Eﬁ/ﬂﬁ%kﬁtﬂr AoEk
EFENAFEHBTEREE-

%%%BﬁKEF‘WHﬂF‘HQ%kﬁ(@%HQ%
Ej‘ﬁ) &%% = ED%ZEilE%@JQD—F

during the Year are set out below:

Number of Number of
general Board
meeting meetings
Name of Member attended attended
HERREAE HEESETIR
ME%H ZRE ZRE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Dr Yeung Yung (resigned with effect MrtE+T (B ZA4F 0/1 717
from 24 March 2025) =B+ HESFE)
Mr Feng Rui (resigned with effect from BSR4 (B — = /94 N/A B 1/7
5 March 2024) =B F HEFE)
Mr Liu Stephen Quan (resigned with BR&EE (H-E_HEF 0/1 1/7
effect from 19 March 2025) =B+ HEFFT)
Mr Li Zhengshan (resigned with effect ~ ZEIELLScHE (- ZF _I94F N/A B 2/7

from 26 April 2024)
Mr Chen Xiao (resigned with effect from
24 March 2025)
Mr Shan Chuanlong
(appointed with effect from
19 March 2025)
Mr Kong Fan (appointed with effect
from 19 March 2025)
Ms Hou Bosson Ying
(appointed with effect from
20 December 2024 and resigned with
effect form 19 March 2025)

Non-executive Director
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim (resigned with
effect from 19 March 2025)
Mr Ruan Jian (appointed with effect
from 19 March 2025)
Mr Zheng Yu (appointed with effect
from 19 March 2025)

M — 4N HEEEHE)
RIS E (B _H4F 0/1 717
= H =+ I9HEFET)
BEREEE (BZFHF
= H+ HEEZT)

N/A B A N/A 458 FB

NEE (BZFEZLF N/A T EF
=B+ N HEEZF)

Hou Bosson YingZ =
(B=—ZEZpFE+—4H
—rHEEZTR
HZZEZAF=F+/1H

EFE)

N/A & A

N/A i F 0/7

FEBITEE
EEEELt (§-FE_A4F 01 1/7
=B+ HEFT)
bt (H-E_AHEF
=ZA+A Eﬂfﬁé;ﬁé/f)
BFoeE (H-FE_—AF
= A+ HEEEZAT)

N/A TEA N/A 778 B

N/A F5E A N/A ~7E B

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024



Corporate Governance Report
TEERIRE

(appointed with effect from
29 March 2025)

=B+ AEEZEF)

Number of Number of
general Board
meeting meetings
Name of Member attended attended
HERRAE HESEHEFE:
RE%HA 2R ZRE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIFHITESE
Dr Zhu Guobin (resigned with effect KBRtBEtL (H-ZE A 4F 1/1 1/7
from 19 March 2025) =B+ HEF)
Mr Cheng Tat Wa (resigned with effect ~ ERiZEZESAE (5 _—&F _[JU4F 0/1 1/7
from 21 March 2024) A= +—HEHT
Dr Li Jianyong (resigned with effect from ZEREBIELT (H_-ZFE_AF 11 6/7
19 March 2025) =B+ HEFT)
Mr Chan Sin Hang BREGLEE (HZEZUE 0/1 1/7
(resigned with effect from =B +—HEST)
21 March 2024)
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace (resigned — ZERZIRE (B - ZF _IHF N/A 38 077
with effect from 2 February 2024) ZHZHEEFT)
Ms Pan Hong (appointed with effect BN+ (H-EZAF N/A 5 N/A 3B
from 13 March 2025) =ZA+=HEEZE)
Mr On Ka Shing BEmlid (§ZFZm4F 11 5/7
(appointed with effect from _: AZ+—HEEZ TR
21 March 2024 and resigned with BE-E-AF_H+tH
effect form 17 February 2025) /ﬂg/%f/f)
Ms Tang Po Yi BRULT (HZEZAHF N/A 58 N/A 3B
(appointed with effect from _ﬁ L HEES R
19 March 2025 and resigned with B-ZE"AFRA+=H
effect from 13 May 2025) EFE)
Mr. Wu Wenchang BRXERE (BZEZHF N/A 38 N/A T3EF
(appointed with effect from =B+ N HEEZF)
29 March 2025)
Mr. Yuen Wai Keung REBBEE (B-ZE_4F N/A N3 F N/A R

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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Board composition

During the Year, the Board comprised the following members
(who remained in office as at 31 December 2024 unless otherwise

specified below):

Name
Executive Directors
Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 24 March 2025)
Mr Feng Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned with effect from 5 March 2024)
Mr Liu Stephen Quan
(resigned with effect from 19 March 2025)
Mr Li Zhengshan
(resigned with effect from 26 April 2024)
Mr Chen Xiao
(resigned with effect from 24 March 2025)

Non-executive Director
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim
(resigned with effect from 19 March 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr Zhu Guobin

(resigned with effect from 19 March 2025)
Mr Cheng Tat Wa

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Dr Li Jianyong

(resigned with effect from 19 March 2025)
Mr Chan Sin Hang

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace

(Resigned with effect from 2 February 2024)
Mr On Ka Shing

(Resigned with effect from 17 February 2025)

The biographies and other information of the current Directors
are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. There is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship among the

Directors.
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Under bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three
(3)), then the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
the Directors are subject to the free and absolute choice of the
shareholders for re-election at the annual general meetings.
Whereas under bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board should hold office until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, (1) Mr Shan
Chuanlong, (2) Mr Kong Fan, (3) Mr Ruan lJian, (4) Mr Zheng Yu,
(5) Ms Pan Hong, (6) Mr Wu Wenchang and (7) Mr Yuen Wai
Keung were appointed after the annual general meeting held on
6 June 2024, and will retire and each of them, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on 30 July 2025 (“2025 AGM").

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach taken to achieve diversity in the Board composition.
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
the candidates’ background, professional knowledge, skills and
expertise, industry experience, age, gender and other qualities
of the members of the Board. These characteristic and objectives
have been taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Company has achieved the following measurable objectives
that the Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

(i)  To ensure at least one member of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualification;

(i)  To ensure the appropriate proportion of the independent
non-executive Directors to the executive Director in order
to maintain the independence of the Board. In particular,
at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

(iii)  To ensure at least 50% of the members of the Board shall
have attained bachelor’s degree or higher level of education.

TEEABRSS
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The Board is aware that under the revised rule 13.92 of the Listing
Rules, a single gender board with not be considered to have
achieved gender diversity, and the Group aims to further improve
the diversity of the Board by appointing at least one female
member on the Board before 31 December 2024 being the end of
the transitional period as specified by the Stock Exchange.

In order to achieve gender diversity in Board succession, the
Company would also put further emphasis on gender balance and
gender equality in future recruitments, so that sufficient potential
candidates of different gender are in place to fill the vacancy of
the Board, when necessary.

During the year, in respect of gender diversity at workforce level
(including senior management), the female representation is about
19% of our total work force. Given the principal business and the
industrial nature of automobile industry, it is expected that equality
of gender ratio will be difficult to achieve within the Group.
However, the Group will still strive to enhance gender diversity
(in terms of gender ratio) across all levels of workforce so far as
reasonably practicable.

The skills and expertise among the existing Directors are well-
balanced with a mixture of core competencies in areas such
as accounting and finance, legal, business and management,
marketing strategies, business development, and scientific
backgrounds.

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) meet
the requirements of independence under the Listing Rules so that
there is a sufficient element of independence in the Board to
exercise independent judgments. The Board considers that all of
the INEDs are independent and the confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules had been obtained from
each of them as required by the Listing Rules.

The INEDs have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary
duties as the executive Directors.
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The functions of INEDs include, but not limited to:

o participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment to bear on issues of corporate strategy, corporate
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standard of conducts;

o taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

o serving as member of and actively participating on matters
delegated by the Board to the committee(s) established by
the Board, if invited;

o attending general meetings of the Company and developing
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders; and

o scrutinizing the Group's performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives and monitoring the reporting
of performance.

Chairman and CEO

As at 31 December 2024, the Chairman of the Board was Dr
Yeung Yung, who resigned with effect from 24 March 2025.
Mr. Shan Chuanlong was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board on 24 March 2025. The chief executive officer (“CEO")
of the Company has been vacant following the resignation of
Mr. Feng Rui on 5 March 2024. Until the appointment of new
CEO, the executive Directors continue to oversee the day-to-day
management of the business and operation of the Group.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board so
that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner.

The position of CEO is vested with executive responsibilities
over the business directions and operational decisions of the
management and performance of the Group.

The Chairman of the Company also seeks to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues raised at Board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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Appointment, Re-election, Retirement and Removal

It is the Board's responsibility to select and appoint individuals
with integrity, experience and calibre to act as directors of the
Company. The Board reviews the profiles of the candidates and
seek recommendations from the Nomination Committee of the
Board on the appointment, re-election, retirement and removal of
directors.

All Directors are subject to rotation at least once in every three
years as required by the Bye-laws. Each Director is briefed and
updated to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Group and that he acquaints
himself with the common law duties and responsibilities of acting
as a director for a listed company and familiarise himself with the
applicable laws and regulations (including without limitation, the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, and the governance policies of the Company).

Each of the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) is appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years commencing from
his date of appointment and is renewable successively for a term
of one year until terminated by either party by giving not less than
one month’s prior written notice to the other and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws. Every Director
shall ensure that he can contribute sufficient time and effort
to the corporate affairs of the Company once he accepts the
appointment.

Inside information

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure
that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee with specific terms
of reference (which are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the Corporate Governance Code) to enable each of the
Committees to discharge its functions properly.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing financial
statements and internal control system of the Group. It also
provides advice on the financial and accounting policies of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr Zhu Guobin Dr
Li Jianyong (chairman of Audit Committee) and Mr On Ka Shing.
As of the date of this report, the composition of Audit Committee
has been changed and it comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Pan Hong, Mr. Wu Wenchang
and Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (chairman of Audit Committee).
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Four meetings of the Audit Committee were held for the year B IZEZEETRHE_ZT : fE +ZA
ended 31 December 2024. The individual attendance of each Z=Z+—HIEEEHXBFTURETH - ZSMREZ
member is set out below: HEEHINOT -
Number of
meetings attended
Name of Member E4 HEZERY
Dr Li Jianyong FEEEL 4
Dr Zhu Guobin KEEIE L 4
Mr On Ka Shing ZEMTE 4
During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following ZTIZEZEGENEAEERIAIT N5 II/E !

work:

o Reviewed with the management the Group’s annual and
interim results and draft consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 respectively

o Reviewed with the management the Group’s financial
reporting and auditing matters, the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and their adequacy
and effectiveness

o Reviewed and discussed with independent external auditor
of the Company on significant audit findings

o Reviewed the disclaimer of opinion of the independent
external auditor on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
assessed the position and views of the management of the
Group towards the disclaimer of opinion by the auditor and
its impact or possible impact on the financial position of the
Group;
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o Recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
the independent external auditor of the Company for
shareholders” approval

o Carried out such other duties as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code which included the review of the
independence and objectivity of the external auditor, the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations,
as well as the terms of their engagement. The Audit
Committee was satisfied with the outcome of their
review, and the Board shared the same views of the Audit
Committee.

The Company Secretary keeps the minutes of the Audit
Committee. Draft and final versions have been sent to all members
of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the
meeting for their comments and records respectively.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for the Year, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and were
properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility in the Independent Auditor’s
Report

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (the “Auditor"”), the independent
external auditor, has also stated its reporting responsibility in
the independent auditor’s report of the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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Scope limitation related to going concern expressed by
the Auditor

The Auditor has expressed a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report) related to, among other
matters, a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and its basis,
which is reproduced below:

Scope limitation related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$13,813,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 and as at 31 December 2023 the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$212,675,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$212,675,000. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends upon (i) the financial support from a
shareholder, (ii) the completion of the subscription of new shares
in the Company; and (iii) the completion of the subscription of
convertible bonds to be issued by the Company under the general
mandate for the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
that would result from the failure to obtain the financial support.
We consider that the material uncertainty has been adequately
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to i) the validity of the
financial support from a shareholder, there was no information
available from management that we considered sufficiently reliable
that enables us to assess the financial position of the shareholder
and to evaluate whether the shareholder has sufficient financial
viability to provide the aforesaid financial support to the Group; ii)
the completion of the subscription of new shares in the Company,
there was no information available from management that we
considered sufficiently reliable to enable us to assess the status
and the likelihood of a successful completion of the subscription
of new shares in the Company; and iii) the completion of the
subscription of convertible bonds to be issued by the Company
under the general mandate, there was no information available
from management that we considered sufficiently reliable to
enable us to assess the status and the likelihood of a successful
completion of the subscription of convertible bonds. In view
of the above scope limitation, there are no other satisfactory
audit procedures that we could adopt to determine whether
the shareholder and the subscribers have the financial ability
to honour the financial support to the Group. We disclaim our
opinion in respect of the appropriateness of the use of going
concern basis of accounting to prepare the consolidated financial
statements relating to the going concern basis.
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Directors’ position on the scope limitation related to going
concern

The Directors consider that the Company have provided all
available audit evidence to the Auditor and have confidence in
the shareholder’s continued commitment and support towards the
Group as had been demonstrated in the past, and believe that the
shareholder is ready, willing and able to offer such other assistance
(financial or otherwise) to the Group to enhance its financial
flexibility and capability as and when the circumstances arise.

Further, the Directors have been proactively exploring (i) all
possible financial alternatives (including but not limited to equity
financing, debt financing, rights issue, open offer or bank
borrowings); (i) collaborations with potential business partners
and investors to develop the business of the Group. These
collaborations may take the form of joint venture(s) or other forms
of alliance with potential business partners and investors to invest
in, develop or diversify the businesses of the Group in which (a)
the Group may contribute its expertise and intangible assets (such
as intellectual property rights owned by the Group) and (b) the
potential business partners or investors may inject working capital
to allow each party to fully leverage on each other’s capabilities.

During the Year, the Company had identified a number of
potential business partners or investors (including governmental
authorities in the PRC, manufacturers in the automobile industry
and institutional investors) which had expressed interest in
collaborating with or investment in the Group. However, the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic had significantly hindered
the negotiation progress and negatively affected the sentiment of
such potential business partners or investors, which had generally
adopted a more prudent approach, in vigorously pursuing such
possible new business ventures or investment during the Year.

Nevertheless, with the continued support from the shareholder,
together with the unwavering efforts and commitment of the
Company’s management in seeking potential collaborations and
investment opportunities for the Group with a view to improving
the liquidity, operation and performance of the Group in the long
run, the Directors believe that the Company will manage to have
sufficient working capital for the operation and development of
the Group's business so that the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the scope limitation will not be carried forward to the Group's
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2025.

The Company will make further announcement(s) on any potential
fund raising, collaboration and/or investment opportunities and
comply with the applicable requirements of the Listing Rules as
and when appropriate.
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Audit Committee’s view on the Directors’ position and
the disclaimer opinion

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the Director’s
position and is of the view that the Board should continue its
efforts to enhance the Group’s liquidity position and to remove the
disclaimer opinion in the next financial year.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to the external auditor in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the external
auditor of the Group were as follows:
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Audit service BIZR 1,200,000
Non-audit services* JEE AR 75,000
1,275,000

# The non-audit services mainly comprised review of interim financial ~ * FBRRF T ECEESRPHAMBER

information, professional services in relation to possible transactions
and tax compliance services.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for overseeing management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
establishing procedures to enable the Group to identify, evaluate
and monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems in a
timely manner. During the Year, the Company had, together with
the senior management of the Group and the audit committee
of the Board, reviewed and evaluated the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considered that they
were adequate and remained effective.

The risk management and internal control systems, including
a defined management structure with limits of authority, are
designed to help achieving business objectives, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use, and maintaining proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use and for publication. The establishment
of such systems is designed to manage the Group’s risks within an
acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are reviewed annually.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as the process used to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the Group. The
Board also reviews the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions as well as those
relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting. The
Group considers its risk management and internal control system
effective and adequate.

Internal Audit Function

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for an internal audit department. Given the Group’s relatively
simple corporate and operation structure, as opposed to diverting
resources to establish a separate internal audit department, the
Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee to
ensure that there are formal and transparent procedures for
formulating policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee comprised Dr Yeung Yung (an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Board) and one independent non-executive
Director, namely, Dr Li Jianyong. Dr Li Jianyong was the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. As of the date of this report, the
composition of the Remuneration Committee has been changed
and it comprised Mr. Shan Chuanlong (an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Board) and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Pan Hong (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Wu Wenchang and Mr. Yuen Wai Keung.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee determined the
policy for the remuneration of executive Directors, assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and approved the terms
of their service contracts. The Remuneration Committee had also
made recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s
remuneration policy and the formulation and review of the
remuneration package of all Directors and senior management
of the Group for determination by the Board and considered and
dealt with matters relating to appointment, retirement and re-
election of Directors.
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According to the Group's directors’ remuneration policy, the
remunerations of the Directors, comprising Director’s fee, salary
package, discretionary bonus and share options, are reviewed
and determined by the Board based on the recommendations
from the Remuneration Committee with reference to the
Company’s performance, the Director’s duties and responsibilities
with the Company, and the prevailing market conditions. The
Director’s remuneration will be subject to annual review by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board with the authorisation
granted by the Shareholders at the AGM.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
Details of the remuneration paid to members of the senior

management of the Group (including the Directors) by band for
the Year are set out below:
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Number of senior

Remuneration band management
HENEEE SREEEAH
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T LA T 21

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

Four meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The individual attendance of each
member is set out below.

1,000,00178 75 22,500,000/ 7T -

FMEEERBE_ZE_ME+_A
=+ —HEFERXBTHEREZ - SNEZ
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Number of
Name of Member meetings attended
REH% HEEERHK
Dr Yeung Yung R+ 4
Dr Li Jianyong FTEBEL 4
Mr On Ka Shing ZEMTE 4

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has a Nomination Committee to ensure that there
are fair and transparent procedures for the appointment, re-
election and removal of directors to the Board. As at 31 December
2024, the Nomination Committee comprised Dr Li Jianyong
and Mr On Ka Shing, both being independent non-executive
Directors, and Dr Yeung Yung, being the Chairman of the Board
and an executive Director. Dr. Yeung Yung was the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee. As of the date of this report, the
composition of the Nomination Committee has been changed and
it comprised Mr Shan Chuanlong being the executive Director, (an
executive Director and the Chairman of the Board) and Mr. Wu
Wenchang and Mr. Yuen Wai Keung being the independent non-
executive Directors.

Nomination Policy and Procedures

To ensure the composition of the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business in accordance with the
Board diversity policy of the Company, the Company has, with
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, adopted a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment (as the case may be) of
Directors. The criteria to be taken into account when considering
the suitability of a candidate, among other things, will be his or
her ability to:

(@ bring an independent judgment and make constructive
recommendation on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and/or the Nomination Committee and/or any
other Board committee(s), if invited;

(d) devote sufficient time to the Board and/or any Committee(s)
on which he or she serves so as to allow them to benefit
from his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds
and qualifications and diversity through attendance and
participation in the Board and/or Committee meetings;

(e)  scrutinize the Company's performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

(f)  ensure the Committee(s) on which he or she serves to

perform its/their powers and functions conferred on it/them
by the Board; and
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(g9 conform to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company
or imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where
appropriate.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director (INED), his or her independence shall be
assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to
time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise for filling
the office of an INED with such qualifications or expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee has nominated (a) Mr Shan
Chuanlong (executive director and chairman); (b) Mr Kong Fan
(executive director); (c) Mr Ruan lJian (non-executive director);
(d) Mr Zheng Yu (non-executive director); and (e) Ms Pan Hong,
Mr. Wu Wenchang and Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (independent
non-executive directors) to the Board for the Board to make
recommendation to the Shareholders for re-election at the
2025 AGM, having reviewed the composition of the Board and
having regard to the proposed re-elected Directors’ professional
experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service, their
commitment to their respective roles and functions, and their
respective contributions brought and to be brought to the Group.

On the existing independent non-executive Directors, the
Nomination Committee considered (and the Board shared the
same views), that at all times during the period of directorship
with the Company, each of them had properly discharged his
duties and responsibilities as an independent non-executive
Director and had made positive contribution to the development
to the Company through independent, constructive and informed
comments and participation at the business and other affairs
relating to the Group. The Nomination Committee (as well as the
Board) was satisfied with the independence of these independent
non-executive Directors, having regard to the independence
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the annual
confirmation given by each of them to the Company on his
independence.
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Four meeting of the Nomination Committee was held for the year

RRZBENBEE_T_WNFE+_-A

ended 31 December 2024. The individual attendance of each =+—HIEEEHBFTORGH IHEZ
member is set out below: HEEEHWT

Number of
Name of Member meetings attended
REHH HEEERY
Dr Yeung Yung ELiEL 4
Dr Li Jianyong FEEELT 4
Mr. On Ka Shing BRI E 4
During the Year, the Nomination Committee carried out the MRAEFEEN IERLEZEGEZEAREE

process of selecting and recommending to the Board candidates
for directorship with reference to the Board diversity policy of the
Company, as set out in the section in the report headed “Board
Diversity Policy”, evaluated the Board’'s composition, assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
recommended the re-appointment of retiring Directors for
shareholders” approval at the 2024 AGM.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Continuous Professional Development

During the Year, all Directors (namely Dr Yeung Yung, Mr Feng
Rui, Mr Liu Stephen Quan, Mr Chen Xiao, Ms Hou Bosson Ying,
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim, Dr Zhu Guobin, Dr Li Jianyong and Mr On
Ka Shing) were provided by the Company with materials (including
but not limited to updates on Listing Rules and guidelines on
Directors’ Duties) to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company also encouraged
all Directors to participate from time to time courses which they
consider relevant at the expense of the Company so as to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills for better fulfillment of their
duties as directors of a listed issuer.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”) on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. All
Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed to
the Company their compliance with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION

The Company is committed to (i) protecting the rights of
Shareholders and ensuring that each Shareholder is treated equally
and fairly; and (i) reinforcing the trust placed in the Company
by the Shareholders by remaining open and transparent, which
objective the Company believes is the hallmark of a high quality
company.

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. As part of the Shareholders’” communication
policy of the Company, a number of means, as set out below, are
used for the Shareholders to communicate with the Company
their views on matters that affect the Company, and for the
Company to solicit and understand the views of the Shareholders
and the investing public.

The means of access includes without limitation the despatch
to Shareholders and/or release by the Company of the various
bilingual corporate communications of the Company (such as
interim and annual reports, circulars, notices, financial reports,
press releases and other business information) via the website of
the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of
the Company (http://hk1188.etnet.com.hk).
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Shareholders are also encouraged by the Company to attend
general meetings of the Company where the Chairman of the
Company and other members of the Board and (if appropriate)
the auditors of the Company, are available to answer questions.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company for the
Year. On the basis that (i) 1 general meeting was held to reach
out to individual Shareholders and stakeholders to encourage their
participation in the matters of the Company and to raise enquiries
and (i) all bilingual announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports, and voluntary announcements on business updates of the
Group are made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company to provide Shareholders and investing public
with easy and timely access to the latest development of the
Group, the Board considered that its Shareholders’ communication
policy was effectively implemented during the Year.

The following procedures are in place by which Shareholders may
(@) convene a special general meeting (the “SGM"); (b) make
proposals at Shareholders” meeting; and (c) send enquiries to the
Board to achieve the above purposes.

(@) Procedures by which Shareholders can convene a
SGM
Pursuant to section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), a Shareholder or
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company may
requisition the Directors to forthwith proceed duly to
convene a SGM by depositing a written requisition at the
registered office of the Company. Bye-law 58 of the Bye-
laws provides for this right as well.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting (including the resolutions to be considered at the
meeting), signed by the requisitionists, deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th
Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more requisitionists.
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If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

Procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
Shareholder(s) to requisition the Company to move a
resolution at an annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the
Company or circulate a statement at any general meeting
of the Company. Under section 79 of the Companies Act,
at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company
otherwise resolves, it shall be the duty of the Company on
the requisition in writing by such number of Shareholders:

(i) to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting;

(i) to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting;

(i) the number of Shareholders necessary to make the
above-mentioned requisitions to the Company shall
be:

- either any number of Shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting
to which the requisition relates; or

- not less than one hundred Shareholders.
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Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to Shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
Shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice of
the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given
to any other Shareholder by giving notice of the general
effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving
him notice of meeting of the Company, provided that the
copy shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution
shall be given, as the case may be, in the same manner
and, so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the
meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be served
or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as
practicable thereafter.

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to
be met before the Company is bound to give any notice of
resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section
80 of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be bound
to give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement
as mentioned above unless:

(i)  a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain
the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at
the registered office of the Company:

- in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the
meeting; and

- in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one week before the meeting;

(i) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures regarding
the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of
statement,
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Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered
office of the Company, an AGM is called for a date six
weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy
though not deposited within the above-mentioned time
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the
Company for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the
Group. Shareholders may contact the Company in writing or
by telephone or facsimile:

Address . Principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong — 21/F, Grand Millennium
Plaza, 181 Queen’s Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

Telephone :  +(852) 3101 5683

Attention : Board of Directors/fCompany Secretary
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ZHONGHUI
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited
IEEEEBRAR

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 127, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Scope Limitation Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$13,813,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 and as at 31 December 2024 the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$212,675,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$212,675,000. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends upon i) financial support from a
shareholder; ii) the completion of the subscription of new shares
in the Company for the Group; and iii) the completion of the
subscription of convertible bonds to be issued by the Company
under the general mandate for the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due. The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure to obtain
the financial support. We consider that the material uncertainty
has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to i) the validity of the
financial support from a shareholder, there was no information
available from management that we considered sufficiently reliable
that enables us to assess the financial position of the shareholder
and to evaluate whether the shareholder has sufficient financial
viability to provide the aforesaid financial support to the Group; ii)
the completion of the subscription of new shares in the Company,
there was no information available from management that we
considered sufficiently reliable to enable us to assess the status
and the likelihood of a successful completion of the subscription
of new shares in the Company; and iii) the completion of the
subscription of convertible bonds to be issued by the Company
under the general mandate, there was no information available
from management that we considered sufficiently reliable to
enable us to assess the status and the likelihood of a successful
completion of the subscription of convertible bonds. In view
of the above scope limitation, there are no other satisfactory
audit procedures that we could adopt to determine whether
the shareholder and the subscribers have the financial ability
to honour the financial support to the Group. We disclaim our
opinion in respect of the appropriateness of the use of going
concern basis of accounting to prepare the consolidated financial
statements relating to the going concern basis.
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Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated financial
statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

Responsibilities of Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor's report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 30 May 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Proft or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

raEmMEMNEERER
raEmNcEMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ -NHF+_-_F=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—EME ==
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FHET FHET
Revenue KA 7 - =
Cost of sales & A = =
Gross profit EF - -
Other income Hhg A 8 27 885
Administrative expenses TERSZ (13,825) (22,354)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZEE 30 = (427)
Loss from operations EESR (13,798) (21,896)
Finance costs RAE R A 10 (15) (74)
Loss before tax (& AIESIE (13,813) (21,970)
Income tax expense FrSMAX 11 = =
Loss for the year TEEEE 12 (13,813) (21,970)
Other comprehensive income:  HthZ2EULA :
Items that may be reclassified to  BISEE# P HEE 180w =~
profit or loss: B
Exchange differences on translating & EINEFE Z ERZEFE—
foreign operations — Group NEE 1,956 670
Other comprehensive income  ZEEHMEEUTA
for the year 1,956 670
Total comprehensive loss TEEREEIEEEE
for the year (11,857) (21,300)
Loss for the year attributable to: YA F A T FELAEEEE :
Owners of the Company KABHEE A (13,725) (21,909)
Non-controlling interests iR R (88) (61)
(13,813) (21,970)
Total comprehensive loss UFTALTEEEEEZT
for the year attributable to: K5iR4R%E -
Owners of the Company KABHEE A (11,726) (21,190)
Non-controlling interests JEITEREHE = (131) (110)
(11,857) (21,300)
Loss per share BREE
Basic (cents per share) R (ERRAWL) 15 (0.07) (0.11)
Diluted (cents per share) 8 (B (0.07) (0.11)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ARE AR

At 31 December 2024 RN _&_

WE+_—_B=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FHEx FET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BE R E 16 - 315
Equity investments at fair value AT EF AREMEERA
through other comprehensive ZRERE
income 17 - -
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 - =
- 315
Current assets REEE
Other receivables HAuhEW R 19 143 2,638
Bank and cash balances R1TRIRT4ERR 20 202 874
345 3,512
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Trade and other payables ERNESREREMENRE 21 112,006 102,718
Loan from a shareholder —ZRBEZER 22 101,014 101,084
Lease liabilities HEEaE 23 = 843
213,020 204,645
Net current liabilities mENBEEE (212,675) (201,133)
NET LIABILITIES BE3E (212,675) (200,818)
Capital and reserves B RKi#E
Share capital %N 25 2,035,287 2,035,287
Reserves EE] 26(a) (2,249,200) (2,237,474)
Equity attributable to owners of ~ RATHEA AFEHER
the Company (213,913) (202,187)
Non-controlling interests iR TR 1,238 1,369
TOTAL EQUITY R 4R (212,675) (200,818)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 127 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30
May 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Director

EE

MFALTARZEE

BT ATHEE

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes |
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 X —

= —

—_—

Attributable to owners of the Company

N Equity

/ \ n\EIn\

Eﬁ—i—:ﬁ E—l—— HIEFE

FATHE NS
Equity
Share-based investment Non-
Share Share  Translation payment Other  revaluation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
MRMAE RERE
Bt RNEE REEE ZRERE  EMER  EREEE RRBHR EI (3210 4 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAr TiEn TiEn TET TEn TEn FEn TAn TAR
t1 January 2023 R-B-=%-F—H 2035287 2,123214 (5134 274118 23901)  (10363) (4468008  (180,997) 1479 (179,518
Lapsed of share options BB - - - (39,814) - S 39,814 S S S
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FEERENN/ B & - - 719 - - - (21,909) (21,190) (110) (21,300)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-Z#+-A=t+-A 2035287 213214 (50625 234,304 23901)  (10363)  (4450,103)  (202,187) 1369 (200818)
t 1 January 2024 RZB-mE-F-B 2,035,287 2123214 (50,625) 234,304 (23,901) (70,363)  (4,450,103) (202,187) 1,369 (200,818)
Expired of share options BRI - - - (104,098) - S 104,098 S S S
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year KEERENRA/ (BB £8 - - 1,999 - - (13,725) (11,726) (131) (11,857)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE+-A=+-H 2035287 2123214 48626) 130206 23901)  (10363) (4359730)  (213913) 1238 (212675

EEEEBMRAR —FT_NEER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

2024 2023
ot o112 TET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Cash flows from operating activities (EEFHZIREHE
Loss before tax PRIRAIE R (13,813) (21,970)
Adjustments for: P NIBEEFH 2 R
Interest income IISY PN = (5)
Finance costs L& R 15 74
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BEREBITE
equipment 108 108
Reversal of impairment losses of trade FEWL & 5 Fh 18 R H fih FE UK R
and other receivables Z REREEE - (875)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBABZ KA - 427
Operating cash flow before working EEESEEA 2 KE
capital changes B&ne (13,690) (22,241)
Change in prepayments, deposits and TEI R 2 M E A FEUR
other receivables = 2,459 5,517
Change in accruals and other payables FESTE AR HEN R EH) 11,498 11,804
Cash generated from/(used in) operations =3&Ff18,” (FiMA) IR+ 267 (4,920)
Tax paid BRIE - =
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEEFRE (FRA) RE
operating activities BER 267 (4,920)
Cash flows from investing activities IREEFHZIREHE
Interest received BUHE - 5
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of HENBABMERESMY
subsidiaries HER = (10)
Net cash used in investing activities IR E;EENFFRARE FLE - (5)
Cash flows from financing activities & EFHZ2REHE
Interest paid BAFE (15) (74)
Repayment for lease liabilities BEHEEAE (843) (1,449)
Net cash used in financing activities Bt & ;EENFR AR EFEE (858) (1,523)
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEB/YZHLPE
equivalents (591) (6,448)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ REVIZRERIBEEEY
of year 874 7,541
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate JMNi&BE SR B8 &)~ 7L £ (81) (219)
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZREERREEEY
end of year 202 874
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&ERREZE NI
Bank and cash balances IR1T R IR B4R 202 874
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is 21/F, Grand Millennium Plaza,
181 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The
Company's shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) were development
of high-tech electric motor vehicles, development and
sales of battery management systems and spare parts and
development of advanced batteries materials. The principal
activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$13,813,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31
December 2024 the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$212,675,000 and net liabilities of
approximately HK$212,675,000. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon i) financial support from a shareholder;
i) the completion of the subscription of new shares in
the Company for the Group; and iii) the completion of
the subscription of convertible bonds to be issued by the
Company under the general mandate, at a level sufficient to
finance the working capital requirements of the Group. The
shareholder has agreed to provide adequate funds and the
respective subscribers had conditionally agreed to subscribe
for new shares and convertible bonds in the Company
for the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The
directors are therefore of the opinion that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January
2024. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group's
accounting policies, presentation of the Group's financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
those new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income which is carried at its fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE ZE-NF+"HF=+—HILFE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. SAGHBEZIE (@)

4,

INFORMATION (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EZE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. BAEHHEZTE @)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. SAGHBEZIE (@)

4,

INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

-  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements,
fixtures and fittings

Over the expected useful lives
of 5 to 10 years or over the
term of lease, whichever is
shorter

Furniture and equipment 5 years

Machineries 5 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Lease

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Land and buildings 33.3% - 50%
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group's
development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- An asset is created that can be identified (such as
software and new processes);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate
future economic benefits; and

- The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE ZE-NF+"HF=+—HILFE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. SAGHBEZIE (@)

4,

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income;

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. BAEHHEZTE @)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading as at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair values recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the equity investment revaluation
reserve. On derecognition of an investment, the
cumulative gains or losses previously accumulated
in the equity investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in
profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade receivables and lease receivables, or if the credit
risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4.

INFORMATION (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at
an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit
losses that represents the expected credit losses that result
from default events on that financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024

EXDHEREHN (@)

MIEHREEGERRDERAR @
IR EHR %Eé%IEﬂ%W%
BRIERIN 2 EERRBSHEBL
Xi%%%iﬂ+%¢$%&ﬂﬁﬁ
MIAZZRAREEBEPRIER
HEPHRINZEBALBEENSEMHME
ERAGEEFERZBOFEZETR

TAGERRZ TR

BHEEERSENEN RS AR
BEGEEAREMESRMFL 2 &
[B] 5% 18 o e S0 A TR B MR e B S 38

RERREEEY

ETREXRMEs HERREFE
WIEIRTT R FREE FHRNETR
E@%F%%Z%%ﬁ%u&T%ﬁ

MZ_IEJZ%LHHI—JMLL |V_i|_?2,\ e j,EjﬁE
KEELERAEEIREERMAEMNE
DZRTEZNFARERFEEE
Mz —Eme

ERMBERREATIA
ERMEERRATRARFAILENE
FZRNBEREBYHFREEN P/
BENMRATREZEEZNE - REATL
AnBRrERBEENNGEMER
BRZAGER ZEMGH TXH
B EETMBREMRETARRZ
TR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= AL o =
TR ERIRMIET
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4.
INFORMATION (Continued)

Other income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(c) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group'’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. SEAGHEEZIE @)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and its joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. SEAGHEEZIE @)
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if
any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group's most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other
than investments, inventories and receivables, to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTI

NG POLICY 4. BAZHEESZH @)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

(E102%:N

Wi -BERREEREREE AIFE
REBEFEFREARIALEZEE)
ERBLEZEENABRRTERERE
MEEMEAZ WD BEEEEARR
HEREARIHERIL - EERE
R EEREEXHMERREFMS
REWABGERBREERZEEN
AR fRe

B —AR B R TEABAMLBREE
CERBEE MGERBRELZE
BElATRRERNEREEZMAX
BRBREEXRLRBEE ZBRTELR
EERDAEBHRRERES BER
RIS EERBEEZBERIN Z2BA
BEMAZIIEFIH e

PREEMEER AN EE Z BT

B

BREHRER
REABRFTERNRSHRZNRZ
BEHEBENFBETHELCERRLAE
EZHREHMRFER/ABRFE N
MBRERRR WIFAEFRZRE
HRFRUBEN AEARESHHR
RIS EEHZ R o

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER

93



94

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends upon i) financial support from
the major shareholder; ii) the completion of the
subscription of new shares for the Group; and iii)
the completion of the subscription of convertible
bonds to be issued by the Company under the
general mandate, at a level sufficient to finance the
working capital requirements of the Group. Details
are explained in note 2 to consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in
the year in which such estimate has been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
the Group’s property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the present value of estimated future cash flows.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected or
there are unfavourable events and change in facts and
circumstance which result in revision of future estimate
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

PSRRI EE

TRCmEFA=+—RALEE
SEHER R EEEE (8

et REEMEZ TERIR (B)

(b)

(c)

WE BB R AR ATE
FEEEBEEYE BERR
Bzt AER RFEER
RRATEER AT ERME
BRINEROZYE BB KRR
BZEBRIBFERAIEGREEZ
BELERIFH o 97 BFHRE
FHEEARNRAMS AlAE
EEERETINEER M
SR B ¥R R B 2 K AT AR By
HIFREEEE

WE - -BERZEZRE
SBEEEHNBERELRTEE
SRET BB RC TR &
EESERYE - BEKRRESR
B HERE - PIEl % a2 R (G
SARRIREMNEBZIRERETE 9
RRBLREBLVNER HEA
FREHUREERIBEREEE
:Sz BEFITARARMGEFRESRE B
AIREEA ERRERBIE

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER

95



96

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

6.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables and equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The credit risk on bank and cash balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024

6.

MR ER

AEEZEHCAEREHZBYE
Rk SNERBR EERR REBE
TRBRARER AEEZEER
REENEFEINERMD IS IEE
MR NDBRENFTERMBREZ
BEAHEE-

(@) SMESERR
ARAEERBLOEBRZ B
EREBEEFEUBTRAREZ
EEE M sHE  HAEREEHH
I [ B B 1 o 7 B [ 3R By 0 A
BRNERZ BERBEZIN
BHHPER A EEREBTER
HEHZIIMNERR TRERE
B 5 REREAINE AR

(b) EEER
FEEREHREEARNZRSE
BRBEASFAGEHHRIRZ
RERIRITERR BWE SR
R EMBWR IR A FEF AR
tEERAZREIREZRE
THA o

FEBFTARR BIERODEERL
BEBzERFHEE - BARY
FHRERRTREEBLTSE
B RiRIT BIRTRIBEE
Bz EEREAR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(b)

e R RMYEE

s [ 7

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & —

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREMBEE (&)
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following information is used:

internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 60 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

(b)

EEEEE

EMFE+"A=+—HILEE

EERRE (&)
FEERSHSHPHES BT
BEEZFERRESEE L
TEREBRRREERZENR
FENP L HELDBHZEOR
BoAEEEEJOREZAE
REBEXFZAEEER L
HEFRATIER !

- ABEETFR

— BB SRIEKERRER
FEHA L IRE KR A g
tEEESBEA RS EBRA
BITEREZENHEREK
=) ;

— B REENERNIEE
RHzEEHRERES
K

— ERAZEMRRRTA
HIREARE)  EERA
2 R R o

HEBAZGHNRAREE
30K RIBREEERBERE £
Fte BHF A RAENEARE0X
RIEH SN AT EREER

HEM -

RN SBRAE (FHINER
ARBEE A EEET ILERETE)
R rEEEHETMEE -F
EBE-RINEFAEHBE360
RIGAREFHELTRE > & E
TR BN R B A B 4R - A1 B R
SXFE Wk E 8 0 B A S B R S
BREEE LRIfTZ B TH#E
EITRFIMITIEE > R HUWEE
HARELSRR °

RAT —ZF_MEFR

97



98

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ar o TS IR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BFEREER (&)

(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loan loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.

Category Definition Loss provision

Performing Low risk of default and 12 month expected

strong capacity topay  losses

(b) 1% (IIE)
K%.ﬁ% IﬁJrEé'F%%FEWf

Mo U RIRMREERZEE

R K N ] L & 4B B E ,\T)\EE
BEF N BERAEEHEX
R AEEEETRESEHZESL
5 18 R 0 B A0 BE M BUR{E L R

%g o
g REB SRR

BYm  BHERER 12E8%8H
ImENs  BA

Non-performing  Significant increase in~ Lifetime expected losses TEHN FERREE 2PEHEE
credit risk £
Total
st
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Other loans receivables HtEWER 68,908 68,908
Provision for loss allowance EIaEIREE (68,908) (68,908)
Carrying amounts RE®ZE = -
Expected credit loss rate TEAE EREX
2024 ZE:TME 100%
2023 TEC=4F 100%
Loss allowance at 1 January 2023 RZZ2-=%F—F—HZ
Iéﬂé{%ﬁ% 68,908
Decrease in provision in 2023 ZETFBERD >
Loss allowance at 31 December N_E2Z=F+IA4
2023 and 1 January 2024 =t+—HERIZEZ
—B—BZEEHIR 68,908
Decrease in provision in 2024 ZETEEBHRD >
Loss allowance at 31 December PR _Z_MUFE+_H
2024 =+—BHZBEEEIR 68,908
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EZE

A AN

AR e RRMIEE

—ENF+ZRA=+—HLEE

—_—

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREMBEE (&)
(Continued)

(0

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities
is as follows:

(0

MENE = AR
FEEZBRBEMEREAK
BHRPETEE BEERE
$IRE A BUEHARRER
ZRBEEFE-

rEBTREEZIRBERIN
LI

Total
contractual
undiscounted
Carrying cash flow
amount within 1 year
—FRZEN
KRSRMERE
IREEEE 4ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET

At 31 December 2024 HZE-NE+=-A=+—H
Trade and other payables FET B 2 718 K EL A FE (T 3R 112,006 112,006
Loan from a shareholder —SZREZEMR 101,014 101,014
213,020 213,020

At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+"H=+—H
Trade and other payables FE 1T B 5 I8 K ELAM & 1 =R 102,718 102,718
Loan from a shareholder —HREZER 101,084 101,084
203,802 203,802

Interest rate risk (d) FIZEmz

At 31 December 2024, as the Group has minimal
exposure to interest rate risk, the Group’s operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

(e)

ATEINE+-A=+—H
PR 7 2 4 [ 0 1 2 R % 6L W 1
6 AR BERSRAR
IR ISR R R o

AFE
HEMBRNKRAIRMREERZ
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R EEERBEZATERSE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZE T -MF+"_HA=+—HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. B#SEABEIR (&)
(Continued)
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31 fH MW+_B=+—HzZzE®RI
December 187
2024 2023
—EmE TETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Financial assets EHEE
Financial assets at amortised HREHN A E
cost (including cash and cash THEE (BERESK
equivalents) BEEEY) 345 2,821
Equity investments at fair value BATESARMEE
through other comprehensive WAZBRETE
income = =
Financial liabilities ERI&E
Financial liabilities at BEIEN AT 2
amortised cost ERaE 213,020 203,802
7. REVENUE 7. WA

The Group's revenue represents sales and service income of

battery management systems and spare

2024
“FWEF
HK$'000
FE

FEBZWAEEHNEERBRED
parts. B E R ARFBUA

2023
“BI=H
HK$'000
TAET

Sales and service income of BEMEEAGREREBH

battery management systems
and spare parts

HEERRBWA
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AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. WA (&
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: KEELENZWMARD .
2024 2023
< 111 - 5 —ET=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Geographical markets &5
The People’s Republic of China REE AR (THE))
(the “PRC") - _
Major products/service TEER R
Sales and service income of BHNBEERRRERE T
battery management systems & RE AR ULA

and spare parts

Timing of revenue recognition  UX A FE 3285 R
At a point in time RE—ERER

Sales and service income of battery management
systems and spare parts

The Group sells battery management systems and spare
parts to the customers. Sales are recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the products
are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products
and the customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms
of 30 to 90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on
delivery may be required. Deposits received are recognised as
a contract liability.

BENEERARAERBEHHER
T BRFFUL A
AEERZRHEBNEERA NG
mEf - AERRERZEREER
mEFRNER -BEKREBETE
FRREEFERNELEERERE
EmZAERAEREDIHERR

FEW R M & PR E MR
7 L TH A8 Rl 7 B AR 14 ~ IR IE B A
A1 R 5B R 2 B s 3 o

AERE-REEFHERMH30E0
RZEEH -FERAERANESE
HEIIMR -BREERIBSENE

& o

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

8.

OTHER INCOME

8. HfthlkA

2024 2023

—FmEF —EBI=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Interest income FEUWA = 5

Government grants AT Bh 25 =
Reversal of allowance for trade and  FEWE Z I8 R EMEWR >

other receivables B0 - 875

Others Hith 2 5

27 885

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and
marketing strategies. The Group has three reportable
segments: development of high-tech electric motor vehicles,
development and sales of battery management systems
and spare parts and development of advanced batteries
materials.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated corporate income and expenses.
Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate assets.
Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate
liabilities. Segment non-current assets do not include
financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment
benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEPEE @)
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets ERAE®RSHarGE BEEHN
and liabilities: BEZERN:
Battery
High-tech  management Advanced
electric motor systems and batteries
vehicles spare parts materials Total
EtEEAR
BHEEHE REREF TESHME Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr FTER TET TET
Year ended 31 December 2024: HE_F-MF
+ZR=+-H
LEEE:
Revenue WA - - - -
Segment loss NEEE (3.209) (1,444) (222) (4,875)
Depreciation nE - - - -
Other material non-cash items: HtEAIFREIER !
Additions to segment REDHWIERTEE
non-current assets - - - -
At 31 December 2024: RZFE-ME
+ZB=+-H:
Segment assets NHEE 278 4 5 287
Segment liabilities HHEE 10,920 5,821 1 16,742
Year ended 31 December 2023: HEZE-Z
+-A=+—-H
LEEE:
Revenue WA - - - -
Segment loss DEEE (4,001) @71) (154) (4,426)
Depreciation nE - - - -
Other material non-cash items: HtBAFRLEE
Additions to segment RENHFRBEE
non-current assets = = = =
At 31 December 2023: AZEZZ
+ZA=+-A:
Segment assets NPEE 269 1,229 87 1,585
Segment liabilities NEEE 6,865 5,494 1 12,360

EESEEERAT —T-MEEH 103
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

9.

104

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit and

9. AEPEHF ()

FI2WDEWA S mH REE EEHR

loss, assets and liabilities: BEHE:
2024 2023
—EMEF TET=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHT
Revenue: KA :
Total revenue of reportable FI2®D WA KL S IA
segments and consolidated 4aza
revenue - =
Profit or loss: EFIkEE -
Total loss of reportable segments Tz%ﬁ’ BB B 1B AR 2R (4,875) (4,426)
Corporate and unallocated profit or ‘AT Kk D ESHE A I E1E
loss (8,938) (17,544)
Consolidated loss for the year KEFELREEIE (13,813) (21,970)
Assets: =13
Total assets of reportable segments ] 2R DA E ELEE 287 1,585
Corporate and unallocated assets: AT MAKDEEE :
— Equity investments at fair —BATESAREMEE
value through other WAZBAKE
comprehensive income - -
- Bank and cash balances held —AEBRBRIFEZ
by the Group's headquarters IR1TRINELEER 14 113
— Others —Hfh a4 2,129
Consolidated total assets FEEEEE 345 3,827
Liabilities: afE:
Total liabilities of reportable 2w D I B BEEEE
segments 16,742 12,360
Corporate and unallocated liabilities AT RADEEE
— Others —HAth 196,278 192,285
Consolidated total liabilities e aEEE 213,020 204,645
Geographical information: bz 111 =

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based
on the location of the customers. All revenue generated

from PRC.
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10.

1.

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9.

Revenue from major customers:

No revenue from customers individually contributed more
than 10% of the total consolidated revenue of the Group

AEBEH ()
ETBEFKRA

FRFERL Z WA E R L 4 E B 4z
SUWABEI0N U (ZEZ=

for the year (2023: nil). ) o
2024 2023
—E-NE S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FHET
Non-current assets (other than JEREIEE
financial assets): (FEEEMEE) .
Hong Kong and others SRR EHM = S)liS
FINANCE COSTS 10. BEE RS
2024 2023
—E-mE —=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Lease interests HEFE 15 74
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FRiSIRAS
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=2=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Current tax — PRC Enterprise BIHARRIE — PRI (R FR1SR
Income Tax
Provision for the year KEERE = =

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the year as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong (2023: nil).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

AR AEEETEBLBEEERIER
Mg A B F AL E A E BN ER
ELEE CT=F 18-

Hithth @ BRI EF) 2 MBS HTHE
RAEEEEXBRAERRZBITE
B EERER REBTREAHE

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZE T -MF+"_HA=+—HIEFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

12.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
loss before tax multiplied by Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as

11. FRSIRRAEZ (&)

PRSI F X BIRIRAT B IB TR UT BR)
BRMERZIEHRERINT :

follows:
2024 2023
—E-MmE BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Loss before tax PRI RIS 18 (13,813) (21,970)
Tax on loss before income tax, HRAERRKEE A EEBEA
calculated at the rates applicable RiaF)BiEZRESE
to profit/loss in the tax FRPF1SIN A BB 2 18
jurisdictions concerned (2,781) (3,636)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBRBAZRE T E - (1)
Tax effect of non-deductible AEHNREAZZRBE T E
expenses 2,781 3,637

Income tax expense for the year

AEEPISRAX

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

12. FEERHR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

AEBZAFEBADLRDOR G
A) THIRBRBER

2024 2023
—E-NE TEC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN 1,200 1,300
Depreciation of property, MEBEREEITE
plant and equipment 108 108
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT ZEE (HI:E30)
(note 30) - 427
Reversal of impairment losses of FEW B Z I8 K B =2
trade and other receivables REE BRI - (875)
Net exchange loss PE 0 K515 75 %8 50 16
Staff costs including directors’ BTIMAK (BIEEEND)
emoluments
— Salaries, bonus and allowances — e~ TEAL B R 6,369 12,817
— Retirement benefits scheme —RAREBF 5B RN
contributions 209 340
6,578 13,157

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z-_MNFE+ "B =+—HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' 13. EEREEZME

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows: BEEZCMES
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BhER
g HERER SHEI{HER 1%
2024 Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_mE fiE F#ERT TET TERT TET
Executive Directors: HITESR:
Dr. Yeung Yung (E 6) 78 - = 78
Mr. Feng Rui EHRE (b) 14 = = 14
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan REE (© 80 - = 80
Mr. Li Zhengshan FELERE (d) 26 43 13 82
Mr. Chen Xiao B d (@ 80 22 13 115
Ms. Hou Bosson Ying Hou Bosson
Ying%Z = (e) 5 - = 5
Mr. Shan Chuanlong BERELE ) = = = =
Mr. Kong Fan HLAEE () = - - -
Non-executive Director: FEHITES:
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim BEREL © 312 - - 312
Mr. Ruan Jian P ) = = = =
Mr. Zheng Yu L ) = = = =
Independent Non- Executive ~ BIJEHITES !
Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FHIREE (9) 14 - - 14
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa BEELE (h) 36 - - 36
Dr. Zhu Guobin KEGEEL (© 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong FTEERL © 160 - - 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang BEtTE (i) 36 - - 36
Mr. On Ka Shing ZEMEE () 124 - - 124
Ms. Tang Po Yi HEsz L i) = = = =
Ms. Pan Hong B L (k) = = = =
Mr. Wu Wenchang BNEERE () = = = =
Mr. Yuen Waikeung =fEBRIE () = = = =
1,277 65 26 1,368
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

13. EERESZME (@)

13. DIRECTORS’

AND EMPLOYEES'

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
RIKER
e HehEh BEIE ke
2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT = fisE TAT FAT TAT TAT
Executive Directors: BTEE:
Dr. Yeung Yung MeEatET 6) 78 = = 78
Mr. Feng Rui BETE (b) 80 1,600 14 1,694
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan ZIREE (© 80 = = 80
Mr. Li Zhengshan FEWLRE (d) 80 44 13 137
Mr. Chen Xiao PRfE s 4 (a) 80 44 14 138
Non-executive Director: FRITES:
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim EREEL © 312 = = 312
Independent Non- Executive ~ BIJEHITES !
Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FBRIRTE ©) 160 = = 160
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa =LYt ) 160 = = 160
Dr. Zhu Guobin KENRIEL (© 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong TEEEL (© 160 = = 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang BEELLE (i) 160 - - 160
Mr. On Ka Shing BEMEE 0] - - - -
1,662 1,688 41 3,391
Notes: MIsE -

Resigned on 24 March 2025.
Resigned on 5 March 2024.
Resigned on 19 March 2025.
Resigned on 26 April 2024.

Appointed on 20 December 2024 and resigned on 19 March
2025.

Appointed on 19 March 2025 and resigned on 13 May 2025.

Resigned on 2 February 2024.
Resigned on 21 March 2024.
Resigned on 21 March 2024.

Appointed on 21 March 2024 and resigned on 17 February
2025.

Appointed on 14 May 2025.

Appointed on 29 May 2025.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024

RIEBE_RAF=RB-+MBE#HE-
RIZEZMHFE=BAHEHTE
RIZEZREZA+A AT
RIEBE_WNFMB Z+BEE

RN_E_NE+_B_+HESZE
R _E_RE=RA+NHEE-

RIE_HAFE=A+NBEZER
RIS -_RAERA+=HEE-

RN_E_WNE_B _HEHE-
RIE_WNE=B_+—H#H T
RIE_WNE=B _+—H#&Ee

R_E_WE=F_+—HEZMTE
ER_E_RAF_RA+tHE T

RIZE-HRFRR+TNBEERE-
RIZEZRFRR-+NBEZRE-



13. DIRECTORS'
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included one (2023: one) director, whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis above.

During the year, no discretionary or performance based
bonuses were paid by the Group to any of the directors or
the highest paid individual, and no emoluments were paid
by the Group to any of the directors or the highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There were no arrangement under which a director waived
or agree to waive any remuneration during the year.

The number of non-director and non-chief executive

13.

ESRESZME (&)

REFE  x&EBLli&SHALTE
E—2(CE=F:—REFKE
ZMEER LA DT RER

EAKEf AEBTEREMESN

SHALARIEHEERICAL
$$l7ﬁtl‘]€cﬁ%$‘}zﬁ*$ﬁ)\
ITXEAME ERRSIMAESE
= 20 0 A 2= = 1 By 2 2% R o e B A

&

REFEE BEEEFHRXARAENRE
ERIFE 2 225k

FHNTUTRENFESRERS

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the THAENRSHEEABNT :
following bands is as follows:
2024 2023
—EmE —E=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FT#ET FHET
Salaries and other benefits & R HMER] 1,286 2,820
Retirement benefits scheme RORAER] FT IR
contributions 75 30
1,361 2,850
The number of non-directors, highest paid employees whose NN FUTHEENIFEES RS E
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: BABUT :
2024 2023
Remuneration band AN EEE —EmE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 70 AT 4 3
HK$1,000,001 - HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7L % 1,500,000 75 - 1

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
14. g8

14.

15.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment
of any dividend in respect of the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the loss
for year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$13,725,000 (2023:
HK$21,909,000) and the weighted average number
of 20,352,873,000 (2023: 20,352,873,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share
The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-
dilutive for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024

15.

EFUEMBE T _HNFR_
TEHETZR=t+— EiJJ:EJELm/)E
BREIREMKRS -

FRESE

(a)

(b)

BREXEIE

KABER NELERELREIR
ThERAABHEE NEEARE
EE5184913,725,0008 7T (Z &
=% :21,909,0005%7T) KE
WNEETZERMEFERE
20,352,873,0000% (& - =4 :
20,352,873,0000%) 5t& o

SRi#EEsE
BHE_Z_MWER_ZT_=
+-A=1+—HLEFE -FIBE
TEERHAEEREETLE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B2 — & —

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

mE+—B=+—RAILEE
16. V¥ -BEREHE

Leasehold
improvements, Furniture
fixtures and and Motor  Construction
fittings equipment  Machineries vehicles in progress Total
fAEMmERE.
BERERES  HRKRE HE HE EEIR LE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Thn AR TEn TEn TEn
Cost R
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=E-F—H 31,053 31,093 17,906 42,100 427 122,579
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR = (26) = = = (26)
Exchange differences ERER (147) (671) (56) (263) (10) (1,147)
At 31 December 2023 and RIBZ=F+ZA=+-HEk
1 January 2024 2 mE-B-H 30,906 30,39 17,850 41,837 417 121,406
Disposals irk=3 - - - (540) = (540)
Exchange differences ERER (153) (697) (58) (273) (10) (1,191)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+-AZ+-H 30753 29699 17,792 41,024 407 119,675
Accumulated depreciationand ~ EHAERH(E
impairment
At 1 January 2023 RIEZ=E-F—H 31,053 31,093 17,906 4,677 427 122,156
Charge for the year REEN - - - 108 - 108
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR = (26) = = = (26)
Exchange differences EREE (147) (671) (56) (263) (10) (1,147)
At 31 December 2023 and RIBZ=5+-A=+-Ak
1 January 2024 “2ME-B-H 30,906 30,39 17,850 41,522 417 121,091
Charge for the year KEEHR - - - 108 - 108
Disposals e - - - (333) - (333)
Exchange differences ERER (153) (697) (58) (27) (10) (1,191)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+A=+-H 30,753 29,699 17,792 41,04 407 119,675
Carrying amounts RESHE
At 31 December 2024 RZEB_ME+-A=+-H S S S S S S
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=E+ZA=+-H S S . 315 = 315

As at 31 December 2023, the Group internally assessed
the fair value of the property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2023 (the “Fair Value”). In assessing
whether impairment is required for the property, plant
and equipment, the carrying value is compared with
the respective recoverable amount. The Fair Value was
determined using the market approach. The recoverable
amount used in assessing the impairment loss is the fair
value less costs of disposal with reference to the Fair Value.
The fair value was under level 3 fair value measurement.
After impairment assessment by the management, no
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2023.

RN_E_=F+_RA=+—H>&&
BEADTENE -BERRER T
“=E+Z“A=+—HBHRAFE (&
AFHE)  RAHEETEERNYE-
BEREEBELRRER REETH
MRS BETLER A TFE
TAIRETBEETE R G RESEE
R OB EAFERKEE
A EFELBZAFE ZAF
BEBRFEIRAFEAE - REBEEEIT
BESER BE_ET_=F+_H
=t+—HIEFE UEERRERE

EEEMERAT —S_NEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZE T -MF+"_HA=+—HIEFE

17.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

17. BAFEFAHRMZEHRA

ZRERE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=&
HK$"000 HK$'000
FHT FET

IE LHRAE T

Unlisted equity securities

SMERPEAERRAT

SMERPEAEBRAT

The above investment is intended to be held for the medium
to long-term. Designation of this investment as equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income can avoid the volatility of the fair value changes of
this investment to the profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into an agreement with an independent third party
to acquire the equity interest in Jilin Meilai at a consideration
of RMB60,000,000. Jilin Meilai is incorporated in the PRC
and is an unlisted limited liability company established in
the PRC under the PRC Law, which does not have quoted
market price in an active market. The Group intends to hold
the investment for long-term capital appreciation and has
no intention to dispose of the investment in the near future.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group holds 5% (2023: 5%)
equity interest in Jilin Meilai.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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FE O CAEBRRA-—SLBIUFE=HTIL
ek IR E AR 60,000,0007T
WEEEMER Z PRI o FMERN A
B 5% i 5 32 0 M6 AR 35 R B A R R R E
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At 31 December:

18.

ERERE

m+=—BA=+—8:
2024 2023
—E-ME BT =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Right-of-use assets
— Land and buildings

ERREE
— LM RIET

The maturity analysis, based on
undiscounted cash flows, of the

BERNAREREEREZAER
HESEIHBR

Group's lease liabilities is DI

as follows:

— Less than 1 year — /D1 - 858
Year ended 31 December: HE+_BA=+—HLEEFE:
Lease interests HEFE 15 74
Expenses related to short-term BRGIHEEZRE

leases 417 526
Total cash outflow for leases HEZIRE& R 4B%E 858 1,523

The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and
the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

AEBHEZHEL M KRBT - HER
FREBBREIFZEEAHAGET -
ERmZENEEERS ETEES
B R Z R 5 - A E W2
FEAERRZE HEEETR A BE
BEZ IR

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES

19. HthFEULFx

2024 2023
< 111 2 —EBI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Prepayment to a supplier A — R RER A 332,641 332,641
Prepayments to others A EM A LRIE 4,537 4,817
Deposits and other receivables & R EMERER 108,660 111,628
445,838 449,086
Less: impairment losses B ORERE (445,695) (446,448)
143 2,638

Impairment of other receivables HME WS Z B E

Reconciliation of loss allowance for other receivables:

H A FE U R s 2 B8R

2024 2023

—EFmEF —BC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FHT

At beginning of the year FREA]) (446,448) (446,546)
Impairment on other receivables Hh W~ & = =
Currency realignment B 753 98
(445,695) (446,448)

The management of the Company monitored the
collectability of these receivables closely with reference to
their respective current creditworthiness and repayment
records. As at 31 December 2024, all these receivables were
neither past due nor impaired. The management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these receivables as they are considered fully recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

21.

22.

As at 31 December 2024, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$167,000 (2023: approximately HK$718,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the

PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

iR S R MY EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 i ZE—Z-_MFE+"F=+—HILFE
20.

IRIT R IR 45 R

RIE_WNE+"_A=+—H &%
BUARBAEZETRIESER
#H%167,0008T (ZE_=ZF 1 &
718,000787T) - T AR IEAIMNEBE
TFHESNEE G R

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. BB SHRIERHEMETR
2024 2023
—E-mE s =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables INI=RZEe 5,234 5,412
Amount due to a former director B — %A EERIE 2,071 780
Accruals and other payables FEEHE A e EL A FE (TR 104,701 96,526
112,006 102,718
Trade payables FE{1 B Z7IR
The ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on the date FENEBEZMEENRKNERBHRZIR
of receipt of goods, is as follows: o™
2024 2023
—E-ME —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Over 360 days BiB360K 5,234 5,412

Amount due to a former director is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

22.

BA—LAESENEREER 28
KRR BEREE -

—RRRZEM

ERMERERT - REREBERES

=y
SR

.

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

23.

24,

LEASE LIABILITIES 23. fiG &
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEHE HETIARE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE_ME _ECCF ZE-ME _ECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FAERT FET
Within one year —&ER - 858 - 843
In the second to fifth years, BFEFRE
inclusive (BREERE) - - - -
- 858
Less: Future finance charges B RRRES - (15)
Present value of lease liabilities ~ THE&BERE - 843 = 843
Less: Amount due for B RNERREIH
settlement within 12 BRZE2E G
months (shown under RREEET)
current liabilities) - _
Amount due for settlement R12ERREEHEN
after 12 months i - 843
At 31 December 2024, the average effective borrowing A\ ZEMNF+ZA=+—H8 ¥

rate was 4.7% (2023: 4.7%). Interest rates are fixed at
the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the "MPF Scheme"”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
makes contributions to the scheme at 5% - 10% and
employees are required to make 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Mandatory contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately. No forfeited contributions for the
MPF Scheme may be used by the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions as the contributions are fully
vested to the employee upon payments to the MPF Scheme.
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25.

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE
24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 24. BkEFIEHIE (4B)

(Continued)

Employee retirement benefits (Continued)
Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in various
defined contribution retirement plans (“Plans”) organised
by local authorities for the Group's employees in the PRC.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute, based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the Plans. No
forfeited contributions will be used by the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions. The Group has
no other obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with these Plans beyond the annual contributions
described above.

EEERAKEF (B
RAPBEEMRIIZWE RS RAEE
ZHEEESEBt S HESN T
B 5 E MRUR NGB (MR FFHE) - &
EWB AR ARBEERHFEZETH
DB ZFEF MR - MEE R UM
TS R E R RA IRB HRUKFE e
PR £l E A RON > A5 E R E A
HZEHAB AR ERERBIARE
£

SHARE CAPITAL 25. &%
Number of
shares Amount
e E £
HKD'000
THET
Authorised: EE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 R ZE=F—HF—A8-
each at 1 January 2023, B2 =F+"HA=+—H-
31 December 2023, “EIFE—A—HEK
1 January 2024 and —EINFE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024 EREMECNBITZEER 800,000,000,000 80,000,000
Number of
shares Amount
i E =%
HKD’000
TFHET
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHRE :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 T2 _F—F—H-
each at 1 January 2023, TEI=F+ZRB=1+—H-
31 December 2023, “ETMF—F—HB&
1 January 2024 and “ETWNFE+"H=+—H
31 December 2024 SREE AT EER 20,352,872,747 2,035,287

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling assets
to reduce debts in order to maintain sufficiency of working
capital.

FEBEREEAZBRNRERER
REKEZE LEBBLEEA
BoEREz e ARRAIERKN
[E]%

FERKEEREANENAERE
KB Z AR LIRS BEARE - A5
ERERIKE  FETHRO &RKRPE
B #THMER BRBEEERENHE
BERB RETHZEESES T
HERBEARBE T -

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

26. RESERVES

(a) The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement

26. (#fh&

(a) TEBRFFESERHEHETNES
BmMEMEERRERUAKREGES

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and ERmEEHRES o
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) AAF#EE
Share-based
Share  Contributed payment  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
LR RZ 2
R iR (E AR FIERE ZetisE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET TET TET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=F—-H—H 2,123,214 94,601 274,118 (4,662,224) (2,170,291)
Lapsed of share options ~ FERRER - - (39,814) 39,814 -
Loss for the year ZKEF*EE?% - - - (12,624) (12,624)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H 2,123,214 94,601 234,304 (4,635,034) (2,182,915)
At 1 January 2024 RZZ-mWE—-F—H 2,123,214 94,601 234,304 (4,635,034) (2,182,915)
Expired of share options ~ EEA& EZIHA - - (104,098) 104,098 =
Loss for the year FEEER - - - (6,634) (6,634)
At 31 December 2024 RIZZME+ZA=+—H 2123214 94,601 130,206 (45375700 (2,189,549)

¢) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)  Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from
the issue of shares at a price in excess of their
par value per share and is not distributable but
may be applied in paying up unissued shares of
the Company to be issued to the shareholders
of the Company as fully paid bonus shares
or in providing for the premiums payable on

repurchase of shares.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B2 — & —

26. RESERVES (Continued)

¢) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company, and the nominal
amount of the Company’s shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company's shares in 1995.

Under the applicable laws of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of a company is
available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve has been established and
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for foreign currency translation.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees
and consultants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

ME+"B=+—HLEFE

26. {#E (48)
0 BHEMERAN @

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

BAZE

RRABZBABKRIINA
ARWERBLADERZ
SWBRAAZHEEGRER
ESHEREARA RN E
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73k o 28T 2 M IR LT B
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— ERAENIRRIK
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 27.

28.

THE COMPANY

AT MRBINRER

2024 2023
—EOE 5=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#x FET
Current assets RHBEE
Prepayments, deposits and BN s R EMEURER
other receivables - 1,387
Bank and cash balances IRITRIRE 4R 14 113
14 1,500
Current liabilities mENE(E
Accruals and other payables et &R R EMEIR 42,162 37,014
Amount due to a subsidiary FETI B A B R I8 13,154 13,154
Loan from a shareholder —ZRBEZER 98,960 98,960
154,276 149,128
Net current liabilities mEaEEE (154,262) (147,628)
NET LIABILITIES BE3E (154,262) (147,628)
Capital and reserves B RK#E
Share capital N 2,035,287 2,035,287
Reserves #E (2,189,549) (2,182,915)
TOTAL EQUITY REia4REE (154,262) (147,628)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 28. U ZzFHIE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Eligible participants
include the full-time and part-time employees, executives,
officers, directors, business consultants, agents and legal
and financial advisers of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 13 June 2013
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under unexercised
share options currently permitted to be granted under the
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of shares options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not later than five years
from the date of the offer of the share options or the expiry
date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

28.

LARZ {732 4 2 *R 1A (48)

BAABDE-—EF RSTHRARN
TERRARSFEMHBEARDER
B REEHBIUIFRITESE M E-
BE REFERAER BEARAF
R—FTERRVBUFATEFTHRK
FEMHBRARDEBBEARBEER
B EETRMNI%ZERNERE A
SRR AG LA HRRA -

RBREZZNNAZNAHE
ST30RAIZEM > AR AR BER AL
a1 ETZLAERE - BERHER
BZITEHTBREEEE TR E—
BERBHRBERMAG EEHABRE
ENHBEFBELFEHAZEE
[EimBH UBRFERE) Bk

BREZODEETHEREE ELR
BEROE2BRNINEREZNAR
B Z B PR B S (DA A BRI R
BENAPNAERSH 2B
BWHE ; kil 2BRANELNAR
HZHE URSERE) -

BRETIERTEFAEAZERER
RIRRAEG ERRZ R -

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER

121



122

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant

Exercise period

28. LARR {32 4 2 7RIA (18)

BREZBROEFBOT

Exercise price

g =F 1T1ER I7EE
2013 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 5 September 2023 HK$0.1080
2013 —E—=FNA7<H _E-=FNARANRHBEZE_=FhAAH 0.10807%8 7T
2014(a) 29 July 2014 29 July 2014 to 28 July 2024 HK$0.1136
2014(a) ZZ—MFEEtAZ+NAH —AFLtAZ+NHEZZE_NF 0.11368 7T
t)ﬂ —+N\H
2014(b) 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 19 November 2024 HK$0.2010
2014b) ZZ—OF+—BZ+H ZE-NFE+—AZ+HEZZ_MWF 0.2010587¢
+—RB+1H
2015 14 July 2015 14 July 2015 to 13 July 2025 HK$0.3950
2015 “_E-RFtA+IH —HFEtA+NHEZE-HAFtA+=H 0.3950% 7T
2016 9 December 2016 9 December 2016 to 8 December 2026 HK$0.2280
2016 “—E-RE+ZAAH E-RETZANABEZZARE+TZANH 0.2280% 7
2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 to 19 January 2027 HK$0.1872
2017 “B—+F-BZt+H E—+tF—RBZH+HEZE_tHF—-HBt+NH 0.18723% 7T
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are FARERITEZEBREZFBUT
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE St
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of exercise Number of exercise
share options price share options price
i} L
fRRz B EHIEE EREHE THIHEE
HKS HK$
AT BT
Outstanding at the beginning ~ PREMEKITE
of the year 1,094,500,000 0.223  1,549,000,000 0.223
Expired during the year REREH (669,500,000) 0.198  (454,500,000) 0.108
Outstanding at the end RERHRTE
of the year 425,000,000 0.384  1,094,500,000 0.223
Exercisable at the end of the year FAERAIITHE 425,000,000 0.384  1,094,500,000 0.223

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.62 years
(2023: 0.82 years) and the exercise prices range from
HK$0.1872 to HK$0.395 (2023: HK$0.1136 to HK$0.395).

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2024

RERE RITEZ IR 2 N # F15
RSN ERAI.62F (T2 =4
0.82%F) »M{TFHENF0.18728BTE
03958 T (CEZ=F:0.1136BTE
0.39537T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 29
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

A AN

JANA AN

RATS R A= M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the financial position of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end

TRREEMBABTZH#E

TR EEDRHLFEXEREE
B EYEMTERY BRI EES
DZAERBMBAT - EFRT A =it
HtIWB AR ZHBERERATERT

Eo

RBREAR EARBDETEMB AT Z

of the reporting period are as follows: SEBUT
Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/paid-up interest/
incorporation/ registered voting
Name registration capital power Principal activities
FriG B
AL, B&f7/ ta/ Rr
&g Bt HREEMRE aatt IEEH
Billion Energy Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Investment holding
KEEEERAT &A AT REER
EEEFEMERERAT The PRC Registered capital of 60.21% Development of
(Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic US$27,000,000 advanced battery
New Energy Co., Limited) materials
# BTN RETESHME
27,000,000 7T
LBFERERERRAT The PRC Registered capital of 100% Provision of finance lease
RMB30,000,000 services
LEFERMEREERAR F SfREA RURMERERS
A& 30,000,0007

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & E T -UHF+ "B =+—HIEFE
29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 29

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the
Group. The summarised financial information represents
amounts before inter-company eliminations.

TRATREEMBAB Z:#1E
=)

TRITHEEHETEBEMEBERZ
JRiEietEm (TFEERRHER ) 2B A
A& HMBERBEELETARM
KRz S8

Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic New
Energy Co., Limited
EEBFEMERARAR

2024 2023
—EIME I =F
Principal place of business/country — EE&2MIE H A IR The PRC
of incorporation s
% of ownership interests/voting RS A 2 AR 39.79% 39.79%
rights held by NCI iR/ RAEE DL
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
At 31 December: ®w+=-—A=+—8:
Non-current assets ERBEE - 301
Current assets MENEE 10,844 11,119
Current liabilities mEEE (7,733) (7,982)
Net assets BEFE 3,111 3,438
Accumulated NCI RetIEEREm 1,238 1,368
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—HLEE:
Loss for the year KEERTE (222) (154)
Total comprehensive loss PEEIE4EEE (327) (256)
Loss for the year allocated to NCI PDEEEIEERER 2
KEFERE (88) 61)
Net cash used in operating activities #X& EEFT AR H48 (93) (78)
Net cash from financing activities B EHTSIRE P58 (61) 145
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERIFEEEY)
cash equivalents GRiZD) /1N 358 (154) 67
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31.

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE
30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During 2023, the Group disposed some subsidiaries at a
cash consideration of HK$3.

30. HEMEBAE

R =4 AEBLIRENEIE
TTHESDHB AT o

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: RHEHBPZ FEENT

HK$'000

FHET

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TER 2 E R E AU 451
Bank and cash balances IR1TRIRELEER 10
Accruals and other payables FESHE A R H (IR (34)
Net assets disposed of PR EFEE 427
Release of translation reserve fRBR I B (A =
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 12) HEWBASZEIE (EE12) (427)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash MABE-UIREEN =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMELZIREMEIPE !
Cash consideration received BUIRENE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FAHERERIREEEY (10)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a loan
from a shareholder of approximately HK$13,154,000
was settled by the consideration receivables from
disposal of investment in associates. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, a receivable from a staff
approximately HK$1,000,000 was settled by the
amount due to a director and accrued salaries.

31. FARERERMF

(a) EIFRERH
BHE_ZT-_=—F+"8B=+—
BEEE —&2RBZEFRLY
13,154,000 EE B HE R
ENB 2 REZERAREERN-
BHE_Z_NNFE+-F=+—
HIEFE  BlR—2E8 THIELY
1,000,000 B Tt EFEBEN—%
EENERESHFEES

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR PSRRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE ZE-NF+"HF=+—HILFE

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 31. &8 ERERME @B)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing by EmEIZFIMEEZABRE
activities &
The following table shows the Company changes in TRIIREARBDFARRMEEE
liabilities arising from financing activities during the MELZz8EEE !
year:
Loan from a
shareholder Lease liabilities Total
—RRRZER HEafR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TERT
At 1 January 2023 R-E-ZE—F—A 114,300 209 116,502
Changes in cash flows RERBEH - (1,523) (1,523)
Non-cash changes FHREEY
— transfer from other —BREEMERR (13,154) = (13,154)
receivables
— interest charged —FEZH - 74 74
Exchange difference BEREB (62) S (62)
At31December 2023and ~ RZEZ=F+"F=+—H 101,084 843 101,927
1 January 2024 kZZEZNMF¥—-F—H
Changes in cash flows Beheg - (858) (858)
Non-cash changes FREEH
~ interest charged —FEZH - 15 15
Exchange difference ERELE (70) = (70)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-NE+-A=+—H 101,014 - 101,014
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32.

33.

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z - NF+_-_F=+—HILFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,

32. FAB RS

PREZ SR B REMB D P IEE Z &%
HZRIM T X5 RIS ERIN ) REERF

the Group had the following transactions with its related R A B TR .
parties during the year:
2024 2023
—EME R =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Amount due to a related party &< B Bt 5 =UIE 8,719 8,719

The amount due to a related party is is unsecured, interest-
free and has no fixed repayment terms.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 May
2025.

ENREB A RESERT  RERE
& E R o

33. SRR

REMBRXEN _E_AFAA
—THESESHERRETIE-

EEEEBRAT —F_NFEER
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Financial Summary

RATS IR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of TX&HFIAKEBRFTABTREE 2248
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from UREEREEHE LEHFECERZE
the published audited financial statements and reclassified as BTWZIFERE > LEEFHDEE WER) :
appropriate, is set out below:

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
2Ty R ZEITHE - ZEZAE
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK’000
FTER FET FET AT FER
RESULTS £
Revenue WA 21,825 2,571 = = =
Loss before tax bBRIRAIES 1B (100,791) (55,253) (620,309) (21,970) (13,813)
Income tax expense FERES S S . = =
Loss for the year AEERA (100,791) (55,253) (620,309) (21,970) (13,813)
Attributable to; BUFALREL
Owners of the Company AATEREAN (72,904) (55,239) (620,248) (21,909) (13,725)
Non-controlling interests JERERE (27,887) (14) (61) 61) (88)
(100,791) (55,253) (620,309) (21,970) (13,813)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“®2T%F B E"HE —E2-=-f ZEZAF
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK’000
FET FAET FAET AT FER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BEHRE 710,635 674,754 29,414 3,827 345
Total liabilities BEEE (202,837) (209,751) (208,932) (204,645) (213,020)
Net assets/(liabilities) EE/ (Bf) FE 507,798 465,003 (179,518) (200,818) (212,675)
Equity attributable to: BT AT REfb R
Owners of the Company NCIEZZ=DN 506,133 463,307 (180,997) (202,187) (213,913)
Non-controlling interests R R i 1,665 1,696 1,479 1,369 1,238

507,798 465,003 (179,518) (200,818) (212,675)
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